

REPUBLIC OF TÜRKİYE KIRŞEHİR AHİ EVRAN UNIVERSITY INSTITUTE OF HEALTH SCIENCES DEPARTMENT OF PHYSICAL THERAPY AND REHABILITATION

COMPARISON OF EARLY MOBILISATION EXERCISES AND TRADITIONAL PHYSIOTHERAPY FOLLOWING CARDIAC SURGERY ON OLDER PATIENTS

Azhar Hassan MHMOOD

MASTER'S THESIS

KIRŞEHİR / 2024



REPUBLIC OF TÜRKİYE KIRŞEHİR AHİ EVRAN UNIVERSITY INSTITUTE OF HEALTH SCIENCES DEPARTMENT OF PHYSICAL THERAPY AND REHABILITATION

COMPARISON OF EARLY MOBILISATION EXERCISES AND TRADITIONAL PHYSIOTHERAPY FOLLOWING CARDIAC SURGERY ON OLDER PATIENTS

Azhar Hassan MHMOOD

MASTER'S THESIS

ADVISOR Assist. Prof. Dr. İsmail CEYLAN

KIRŞEHİR / 2024

ACCEPTANCE AND APPROVAL

Kırşehir Ahi Evran University, Institute of Health Sciences, Department of Physiotherapy and Rehabilitation, Master's Thesis titled "COMPARISON OF EARLY MOBILISATION EXERCISES AND TRADITIONAL PHYSIOTHERAPY FOLLOWING CARDIAC SURGERY ON OLDER PATIENTS" prepared by Azhar Hassan MHMOOD with the number 211211151. It has been accepted as a Master's Thesis in the Department of Physiotherapy and Rehabilitation by the following jury on 26/02/2024.

Thesis Jury

Assist. Prof. Dr. İsmail CEYLAN

Kirsehir Ahi Evran University Department of Physiotherapy and Rehabilitation

(Advisor)

Assist. Prof. Dr. Anıl ÖZÜDOĞRU

Kırşehir Ahi Evran University Department of Physiotherapy and Rehabilitation (Member)

Assoc. Prof. Dr. Halil ALKAN

Muş Alparslan University Faculty of Health Sciences Department of Physiotherapy and Rehabilitation (Member)

THESIS STATEMENT

I declare that all the information in the thesis is obtained and presented within the framework of ethical behavior and academic rules, and in this study, which is prepared in accordance with the thesis writing rules, all kinds of statements that do not belong to me are fully cited to the source of the information.

Azhar Hassan MHMOOD

According to Objects 9/2 and 22/2 of the Graduate Education and Training Regulation published in the Official Gazette dated 20.04.2016; A report in accordance with the criteria determined by the Institute of Health Sciences was obtained by using the plagiarism software program for this postgraduate thesis.

Azhar Hassan MHMOOD



PREFACE

First of all, I thank God, after patiently and diligently completing my study. I dedicate my thesis to my family Especially my dear husband, who have never spared their sacrifice in every period of my life, whose prayers I always felt with me, for the trust and support they have shown in me likewise, I do not forget the invitations of my parents in my scientific career. Thank you from deep of my heart. In addition to being an example to me with the calm and patient attitudes he has shown since the day I started my master's degree and during my master's course, the one who supported me, facilitated my difficulties, his encouragement and his helping for me continuously, and taught me a lot, he was always supports me wherever I go, teaching the most valuable information of my professional and academic life. I would like to thank my esteemed professor, advisor Dr. ISMAIL CEYLAN. I also took the opportunity to express my thanks to my friend RAED AL-JANABI who did not hesitate to advise me on the correction of my work. I would like to thank all my teachers for their efforts in my education who helped, supported me with love, appreciation, advice, direction and guidance from my childhood to this stage.

February 2024

Azhar Hassan MHMOOD

CONTENTS

PREFACE	iv
CONTENTS	v
LIST OF FIGURES	vii
LIST OF TABLES	ix
LIST OF SYMBOLS AND ABBREVIATIONS	x
ABSTRACT	xi
ÖZET	xiv
1. INTRODUCTION	1
2. GENERAL INFORMATION	4
2.1. Anatomy and Physiology of Heart	4
2.2. Cardiovascular Diseases	5
2.3. Etiology of Cardiovascular Diseases	6
2.4. Epidemiology of Cardiovascular Diseases	7
2.5. Pathophysiology of Cardiovascular Diseases	8
2.6. Cardiovascular Clinic and Physical Examination	8
2.7. Evaluation of Cardiovascular Diseases	9
2.8. Treatment of Cardiovascular Diseases	9
2.8.1. Medical Treatment of Cardiovascular Diseases	10
2.8.2. Surgical Procedures for Cardiovascular Diseases	10
2.9. Cardiac Surgery	11
2.9.1. Indications for Cardiac Surgery	12
2.9.2. Common Types of Cardiac Surgery	12
2.9.3. Complications after Cardiac Surgery	14
2.9.4. Clinical Significance of Cardiac Surgery	14
2.10. Physical Therapeutic Procedures	15
2.10.1. Physical Activity	15
2.10.2. Early Mobilization	16
2.10.3. Functional Exercises	17

2.10.4. Functional Capacity	18
2.10.5. Balance	18
3. METHOD	20
3.1 Patients and Study Design	20
3.1.1. Inclusion Criteria	20
3.1.2. Exclusion Criteria	21
3.2. Treatment Procedure	21
3.3. Demographic and Clinical Information Collection	24
3.4. Outcome Measurements	24
3.4.1. International Physical Activity Questionnaire	24
3.4.2. Two Minute Walking Test	25
3.4.3. Time Up and Go Test	25
3.4.4. Short Physical Performance Battery	26
3.5. Sample Size	27
3.6. Statistical Analysis	27
4. RESULTS	28
5. DISCUSSION	43
6. CONCLUSION	50
7. REFERENCE	51
APPENDICES	72

LIST OF FIGURES

- Figure 2.1: Heart anatomy.
- Figure 2.2: Cardiac operation room.
- Figure 3.1: Head and shoulder mobilization.
- Figure 3.2: Balance control with sitting position and hand grasp.
- Figure 3.3: Improve respiratory muscle by spirometry.
- Figure 3.4: Coughing training for remove secretion.
- Figure 3.5: Two minute walk test.
- Figure 3.6: Time up and Go test.
- Figure 4.1: Mean weight of patients in Group A and Group B.
- Figure 4.2: Mean BMI of patients in Group A and Group B.
- Figure 4.3: Mean distance walked in 2 minutes of patients in Group A and Group B.
- Figure 4.4: Type of physical activity of patients in Group A and Group B.
- Figure 4.5: Mean SF-IPAQ number of patients in Group A and Group B.
- Figure 4.6: Mean TUG of patients in Group A and Group B.
- Figure 4.7: Median SPPB of patients in Group A and Group B.
- Figure 4.8: Scatterplot for 2MWT and SF-IPAQ amount for Group A patients.
- Figure 4.9: Scatterplot for 2MWT and TUG for Group A patients.
- Figure 4.10: Scatterplot for SF-IPAQ amount and TUG for Group A patients.
- Figure 3.11: Scatterplot for 2MWT and SPPB for Group A patients.
- Figure 4.12: Scatterplot for SF-IPAQ amount and SPPB for Group A patients.

Figure 4.13: Scatterplot for TUG and SPPB for Group A patients.

Figure 4.14: Scatterplot for 2MWT and SF-IPAQ amount for Group B patients.

Figure 4.15: Scatterplot for 2MWT and SPPB for Group B patients.

Figure 4.16: Scatterplot for SF-IPAQ and SPPB for Group B patients.

Figure 4.17: Scatterplot for TUG and SPPB for Group B patients.



LIST OF TABLES

Table 3.1: Therapy program for Group A and B.

Table 4.1: Characteristics of the patients.

Table 4.2: Comparison of patients' characteristics across the two groups.

Table 4.3: Comparison of patients' clinical history across the two groups.

Table 4.4: Comparison of 2MWT across early mobilization and functional exercise.

Table 4.5: Association of physical activity levels and functional performance.

Table 4.6: Correlation of 2MWT, SF-IPAQ, TUG, SPPB in Group A.

Table 4.7: Correlation of 2MWT, SF-IPAQ, TUG, SPPB in Group B.

LIST OF SYMBOLS AND ABBREVIATIONS

AVR: Aortic Valve Repair/Replacement

CRP: Cardiac Rehabilitation Program

CVD: Cardiovascular Disease

CPB: Cardiopulmonary Bypass

CVA: Cerebrovascular Accident

CAD: Coronary Artery Disease

CABG: Coronary Artery Bypass Graft

ECC: Extracorporeal Circulation

MI: Myocardial infarction

MR: Mitral Regurgitation

MVR: Mitral Valve Repair/Replacement

PA: Physical Activity

PCI: Percutaneous Coronary Intervention

SF-IPAQ: Short-Form International Physical Activity Questionnaire

SPPB: Short physical performance battery

TUG: Time up and go

2MWT: Two-minute walk test

ABSTRACT

M.Sc. THESIS

COMPARISON OF EARLY MOBILISATION EXERCISES AND TRADITIONAL PHYSIOTHERAPY FOLLOWING CARDIAC SURGERY ON OLDER PATIENTS

Azhar Hassan MAHMOOD

Kırşehir Ahi Evran University Institute of Health Sciences Department of Physiotherapy and Rehabilitation

Advisor: Assist. Prof. Dr. İsmail CEYLAN

The cardiovascular system generally consists of the heart and vessels. Heart and blood vessel problems together referred to as cardiovascular diseases (CVD) include congenital heart disease, cerebrovascular illness, and coronary heart disease. It is expected that CVD will remain the leading cause of death and disability in the world moving forward. Numerous issues can affect the cardiovascular system, such as defects in the conduction system, rheumatic heart disease, and endocarditis. CVD is mostly treated with medication, exercise, a balanced diet, and heart surgery. Following heart surgery, patients who are active in the postoperative phase stay in the hospital for shorter periods of time and experience fewer complications.

After cardiac surgery, exercise helps people improve, but insufficient physical activity can make recovery more difficult. When compared to other alternative therapies, early mobilization following a cardiac surgery improves physical function better. However, recent studies suggest that early patient mobility can facilitate oxygen transport and functional recovery, as well as lower postoperative complications and shorter hospital stays. After cardiac surgery, older adults who exercise during the recovery period experience fewer difficulties and hospitalizations. The purpose of this study is to assess the impact of early mobilization and functional exercise on geriatric patients' post-cardiac surgery physical activity, functional status, and balance.

A total of 100 elderly patients—69 men and 31 women—who had undergone cardiac surgery and were up to 65 years old—voluntarily took part in the study. There were fifty patients in each of the two groups that the participants were divided into: the early mobilization group (Group A) and the control group (Group B). While the patients in the control group did not get the therapeutic regimen used in the early mobilization group, the patients in the early mobilization group received early mobilization and a functional exercise program.

This study was conducted at the Ibn Al-Bitar Hospital in Baghdad, Iraq. A program of early mobilization and functional exercises, in which fifty patients participated part, included: within the first two days after surgery in the intensive care unit, the following exercises are performed: head control, good hand grasp, balance while sitting, breathing exercises using spirometry, and postural drainage using cupping vibration massage three times a day. Between the three and seven days after surgery, the following exercises performed: breathing exercises, postural drainage, inspiratory muscle strength, functional exercise (standing and sitting on a chair, walking inward, backward side line, stepping inside the patch, squatting leaning against wall) for four times a day and repeating fifteen times; and supervised walking in increments of two minutes, as tolerated, up to ten minutes in the morning, afternoon, and evening. Every patient's demographic data was recorded on the seventh postoperative day.

In the intensive care unit, the following exercises were performed one to two days after the operation: postural drainage with cupping vibration massage three times a day, head control, good hand grasp, balance while sitting, and movement of the shoulder and neck. Within the first three to seven days following surgery, the following exercises performed: breathing exercises, postural drainage, inspiratory muscle strength, functional exercises (standing and sitting on a chair, walking inward, backward side line, stepping inside the patch, squatting leaning against wall) for four times a day and repeating fifteen times; and supervised walking in increments of two minutes, as tolerated, up to ten minutes in the morning, afternoon, and evening.

On the seventh day following heart surgery, all patients assessed with examinations and questionnaires. To measure physical activity Short-Form International Physical Activity Questionnaire (SF-IPAQ), to assessment balance Time Up and Go (TUG), to assessment functional capacity the 2-minute walking test (2MWT) and the short physical performance battery (SPPB) used.

The purpose of this study is to assess the impact of early mobilization and functional exercise on geriatric patients' who undergone cardiac surgery. Our study's findings indicate that early mobilization and functional exercises have a positive impact on older cardiac patients'. Older patients undergoing cardiac surgery also experienced improved balance as a result of early mobilization and functional exercises.

26 February 2024, 97 Pages

Keywords: Cardiovascular diseases, cardiac surgery, early mobilization, functional exercise, balance, physical activity, functional capacity.

ÖZET

YÜKSEK LİSANS TEZİ

KALP CERRAHİSİ GEÇİRMİŞ YAŞLILARDA ERKEN MOBİLİZASYON VE GELENEKSEL FİZYOTERAPİNİN KARŞILAŞTIRILMASI

Azhar Hassan MAHMOOD

Kırşehir Ahi Evran Üniversitesi Sağlık Bilimleri Enstitüsü Fizyoterapi ve Rehabilitasyon Bölümü

Danışman: Dr. Öğr. Üyesi İsmail CEYLAN

Kardiyovasküler sistem, diğer adıyla dolaşım sistemi kalp ve kan damarlarından oluşur. Bu sistem vasıtasıyla kan tüm vücuda yayılır, oksijen ve besin maddeleri tüm doku ve organlara iletilir. Kardiyovasküler hastalıklar (KVH) koroner kalp hastalığı, serebrovasküler hastalıklar ve konjenital kalp hastalığı gibi bir grup hastalığın genel tanımıdır. KVH'nin etiyolojisi ve patogenezi büyük ölçüde yaşam tarzına bağlıdır. KVH'lerin davranışsal, biyolojik ve sosyal düzeyde yatkınlıkları ve risk faktörleri vardır. Bunlar yaş, cinsiyet, genetik faktörler, diabetes mellitus, hiperlipidemi, obezite, hipertansiyon, sağlıksız beslenme, sigara kullanımı, fiziksel hareketsizlik ve stresli yaşam tarzıdır.

Dünya Sağlık Örgütü (WHO), kan basıncı, kolesterol, obezite ve sigara içiminin kontrolü ile KVH'lerin görülme sıklığının yarıya indirilebileceğini bildirmektedir. Günümüzde yıldan yıla artan KVH'ler mortalite ve morbiditenin başlıca sebeplerindendir. WHO'ya göre, KVH her yıl yaklaşık 17,9 milyon kişinin ölümüne sebebiyet vermekte ve dünyada ölüm nedenleri arasında birinci sırada yer almaktadır. KVH nedeniyle gerçekleşen beş ölümünün dördü kalp krizi ve serebrovasküler olaylardan kaynaklanmakta ve bu ölümlerin üçte biri 70 yaşın altındaki kişilerde gerçekleşmektedir.

Post-operatif dönemde aktif olan hastaların hastanede kalma sürelerinin daha kısa olduğu ve post-operatif komplikasyonlara daha az maruz kaldıkları bilinmektedir. Dünya Sağlık Örgütü'ne göre, tekrarlayan kardiyovasküler olayların %75'i önlenebilmekte ve ikincil koruma bu yükü hafifletebilmektedir. Kardiyak rehabilitasyon (KR), mortaliteyi azaltan ve KVH'li hastaların yaşam kalitesine olumlu etki eden, etkili bir ikincil korunma için tüm klavuz önerileri sunan kapsamlı bir bakım modelidir. Kardiyak rehabilitasyon programları ile KVH'li hastaların, değiştirilebilir risk faktörlerini önleyerek veya ortadan kaldırarak, hastalık öncesi durumlarını yeniden kazanmaları hedeflenmektedir. Kardiyak rehabilitasyon, hastanın değerlendirilmesi, diyet, kilo verilmesi, egzersiz eğitimi, kronik hastalıkların tedavisi, psikososyal destek, fiziksel aktivite danışmanlığı ve sigaranın bıraktırılması olmak üzere on bileşenden meydana gelmektedir. Kalp ameliyatı geçirmiş yaşlı bireylerde de fiziksel aktivitenin hastanede yatış süresini ve komplikasyon görülme sıklığını azalttığı bildirilmektedir. Bu çalışmanın amacı kalp cerrahisi ameliyatı geçirmiş yaşlı bireylerde erken mobilizasyon ve fonksiyonel egzersizin fiziksel aktivite, fonksiyonel durum ve denge üzerine etkisini değerlendirmektir.

Bu tez çalışması Irak-Bağdat Ibn Al-Bitar Kalp Cerrahisi Hastanesi'nde yapılmıştır. Çalışmaya kardiyak cerrahi geçirmiş 100 hasta (69 erkek, 31 kadın) dahil edilmiştir. Katılımcıların tümü 65 yaş ve üzeri bireylerdir. Katılımcılar, her grupta ellişer hasta olmak üzere Grup A ve Grup B olmak üzere ikiye ayrılmıştır. Grup A müdahale grubu, Grup B kontrol grubu olarak belirlenmiştir. Her iki gruba da konvansiyonel kardiyak fizyoterapi uygulanırken, Grup A'ya ek olarak erken mobilizasyon ve fonksiyonel egzersiz programı (postoperatif ilk 2 gün, yoğun bakım ünitesinde, günde üç kez: glenohumeral ve servikal mobilizasyon, baş kontrolü, el kavrama egzersizleri, oturma pozisyonunda denge egzersizleri, spirometre ile solunum egzersizleri, postüral drenaj, torakal perküzyon ve vibrasyon uygulanmıştır. Postoperatif üçüncü ve yedinci günler arasında ise, günde üç kez: solunum egzersizleri, inspiratuar kas güçlendirme, postüral drenaj, sandalyede oturma kalkma-öne ve geriye yürüme- duvara yaslanıp oturma kalkma gibi fonksiyonel egzersizler, tolerasyona göre 2-10 dakikalık yürüme egzersizleri) uygulanmıştır.

Hastaların demografik ve klinik bilgileri postoperatif ilk gün kaydedilmiştir. Değerlendirme ölçümleri ise postoperatif ilk gün ve yedinci gün yapılmıştır. Değerlendirme ölçeği olarak: Kısa-Form Fiziksel Aktivite anketi (SF-IPAQ) fiziksel aktivitenin değerlendirilmesinde, Zamanlı Kalk ve Yürü Testi (TUG) dengenin değerlendirilmesinde, İki Dakika Yürüme Testi (2MWT) ve Kısa Fiziksel Performans Ölçeği (SPPB) fonksiyonel kapasitenin ölçülmesinde kullanılmıştır.

Çalışmada elde edilen istatistiksel sonuçlara göre: A grubundaki bireylerin yoğun bakımda kalma sürelerinin B grubuna böre daha az olduğu tespit edilmiş, A grubundaki bireylerin 2MWT sürelerinin B grubuna böre daha fazla olduğu tespit edilmiş, A grubundaki bireylerin SF-IPAQ değerlerinin B grubuna böre daha fazla olduğu tespit edilmiş, A grubundaki bireylerin TUG sürelerinin B grubuna böre daha az olduğu tespit edilmiş ve A grubundaki bireylerin SPPB değerlerinin B grubuna böre daha fazla olduğu tespit edilmiştir. Korelasyon analizine göre A grubundaki bireylerde 2MWT ile SF-IPAQ, TUG ve SPPB arasında pozitif korelasyon TUG ile 2MWT ve SF-IPAQ arasında ise negatif korelasyon tepit edilmiş, diğer parametrelerde ise pozitif korelasyon tespit edilmiştir. B grubunda ise 2MWT ile SF-IPAQ ve SPPB arasında pozitif, SPPB ile SF-IPAQ arasında pozitif, TUG ile SPPB arasında ise negatif korelasyon tespit edilmiştir.

Çalışma sonuçlarına göre kalp cerrahisi geçirmiş yaşlı bireylerde erken mobilizasyon ve fonksiyonel egzersiz, fiziksel aktivite ve fonksiyonellik üzerine iyileştirici etki göstermiştir. Ayrıca erken mobilizasyon ve fonksiyonel egzersizin kalp cerrahisi geçiren geriatrik bireylerde dengeyi de geliştirdiği gözlenmiştir. Çalışmamızda postoperatif ilk yedi günlük veriler değerlendirilmiştir. Dolayısıyla bu konu ile ilgili yapılacak daha uzun takip süreli araştırmalar elde edilen çıkarımları güçlendirecektir.

26 Şubat 2024, 97 Sayfa

Anahtar Kelimeler: Kardiyovasküler hastalıklar, kalp cerrahisi, erken mobilizasyon, fonksiyonel egzersiz, denge, fiziksel aktivite, fonksiyonel kapasite.

1. INTRODUCTION

A heart and blood vessels are part of the cardiovascular system (CVS), also known as the circulatory system (1). Medical conditions that affect the heart and blood arteries are known as cardiovascular diseases (CVD). These include coronary heart disease, cerebrovascular diseases, and congenital heart disease (2). Globally, cardiovascular diseases, including strokes and cardiac events, constitute the primary cause of death. 31% of deaths worldwide in 2016 were related to CVD (3). Among the cardiac disorders that can arise are endocarditis, rheumatic heart disease, and issues with the electrical circuits (4).

Atherosclerosis is the primary cause of many cardiovascular diseases, including peripheral artery disease, coronary heart disease, and strokes. Clinical research has demonstrated that impaired metabolism of cholesterol is a primary cause of cardiovascular disease (5). The mainstays of treatment and management for cardiovascular issues are medication therapy, physical activity, moderate to intense exercise, a nutritious diet, and cardiac surgery (6).

As less invasive procedures are used in cardiac surgery, mortality rates have reduced as a result of advances in CVD therapy (7). However, there are even other variables that raise the risk of complications after cardiac surgery (8). Regular physical activity is a crucial health habit that significantly improves the health and quality of life for those who suffer from heart disease (4). However, because physiotherapeutic therapy helps to avoid difficulties after surgery, its importance has grown. It is commonly known that enrolling patients in a cardiac rehabilitation (CR) program after surgery has several advantages (9).

Physical activity has positive effects on patients undergoing cardiac surgeries. However, if they are incapable of moving extensively or don't exercise enough, their recovery process could be delayed (10). It is commonly known that physical activity lowers a person's risk of coronary lesion (11). Using rehabilitation exercises in the first two to five days following a serious injury or surgical procedure is known as "early mobilization" (12).

When compared to other alternative therapies, early mobilization following a cardiac operation improves physical function more than other treatments (13). However, recent studies suggest that early patient mobility can facilitate oxygen transport and functional recovery, as well as lower post-operative problems and decrease hospital stays (14). A lower number of hospitalizations and problems are seen by older adults who participate in physical exercise during the recovery phase following heart operations (15). Consequently, after cardiac surgery, it's critical to create efficient alternatives to bed rest. One strategy that has gained interest is mobilizing as quickly as possible to mitigate the harmful consequences of inactivity (12).

Thus, a decrease or impairment of one's physical abilities after cardiac surgery (16). Early mobilization is a critical component of the early recovery after surgery (ERAS) protocol. This is because it is essential for a more rapid recovery (13). Conversely, elderly patients are less inclined to start a fitness program because they fear it would exacerbate their discomfort and damage their just healed wound. This is especially true shortly after surgery.

In addition, they report experiencing fatigue early and frequently and exhibiting apprehension, somatization, or animosity (14). As of right now, no systematic reviews have been published that explicitly look into the benefits of functional exercise and early mobilization following cardiac surgery. By examining the effects of early mobilization and functional exercise on the physical activity, balance, and functional status of older individuals following cardiac surgery, this study sought to fill that knowledge gap.

The purpose of this study is to assess the impact of early mobilization and functional exercise on older patients' post-cardiac surgery physical activity, functional status, and balance. The purpose of the study is to take a look at the following theories.

1-H1: Immediate mobilization has a negative impact on older patients' ability to improve their physical activity after cardiac surgery.

1-H0: Improving physical activity after cardiac surgery for elderly people is not negatively impacted by early mobilization.

2- H1: After a cardiac procedure, there is a connection between functional exercise and balance for older people.

2. H0: For older individuals who have had cardiac surgery, there is no connection between functional exercise and balance.

3. H1: For older patients who have had heart surgery, there is a connection between early mobilization and functional status.

3. H0: After cardiac surgery, there is no relationship between geriatric patients' functional state and early mobilization.

4-H1: There is a relationship between functional exercise and physical activity in older people who have had heart surgery.

4-H0: For older patients after heart surgery, there is no relationship between functional exercise and physical activity levels.

2. GENERAL INFORMATION

2.1. Anatomy and Physiology of Heart

The human body's contractile heart muscle takes in deoxygenated blood from every area, pumps it to the respiratory system for oxygenation, and exhales carbon dioxide to remove it. The blood is then transported from the lungs and distributed to every part of the human body (15). The heart is situated in the middle of the thoracic cavity, somewhat to the left (16). The right and left sides of the heart are anatomically divided by the septa, while the atrium and ventricle represent the superior and inferior compartments of the heart, respectively. As seen in (Figure 2.1), the heart is made up of four cavities: the right ventricle, left ventricle, right atrium, and left atrium (17).



Figure 2.1: Heart anatomy.

The four cavities in the cardiae allow the blood to pass through via quadrupled valves. After passing through the tricuspid valve and the upper and lower veins cava, blood enters the right ventricular and pulmonary valves before reaching the right atrium. It is then released into the pulmonary circulation. Four pulmonary veins supply blood to the heart, a conical hollow muscular tissue housed within the pericardium and situated in the middle mediastinum. The left

atrium and left ventricle then receive this blood. The heart pumps blood to various parts of the body to fulfill their nutritional requirements (18).

Blood enters the circulatory system through the aortic valve, left ventricle, and left atrium after passing through four pulmonary veins (19). There are four valves in the heart. Each of the four heart valves serves two functions when it is in good functioning order: it allows blood to flow forward while blocking any backward flow (20).

The heart's natural rhythmicity is modulated by the autonomic nervous system, which causes the heart rate to either accelerate (as in a sympathetic reaction) or decelerate (as in a parasympathetic response). The electrical conduction system of the heart is organized hierarchically, beginning with the sinus node and moving on to the atrioventricular nodes, Purkinje fiber-based His bundle, and ultimately the ventricles.

In order to fully appreciate the therapeutic applications of cardiac electrical activity, one must be aware of its anatomical composition and physiological importance. After heart surgery, atrial fibrillation is significantly more common. By utilizing its anatomical expertise, the Maze method efficiently resolves atrial fibrillation by disrupting abnormal atrial activity. Because prosthetic heart valves are so close to the valve area, they can cause atrioventricular occlusion. The quality of the vascular grafts used in coronary artery bypass graft, or CABG, surgeries determines how well they work. Harvesting vessels is a surgical technique that is used often. When compared to veins, arteries have much greater long-term durability (21).

2.2. Cardiovascular Diseases

The heart and blood vessels are components of the circulatory system, often known as the cardiovascular system (1). Heart disease, stroke, congenital heart diseases, and other conditions affecting the heart and blood vessels are all considered cardiovascular disorders. Cardiovascular illnesses are the main cause of death worldwide (2). Smoking, excessive alcohol use, leading a sedentary lifestyle, and inadequate exercise are behavioral risk factors for cardiovascular disease (2). Diabetes, hypertension, hyperlipidemia, socioeconomic difficulties, physical and psychological stress, and a hereditary tendency to the illness are additional risk factors (2).

Engaging in a total of one hundred fifty minutes of moderately physical movement every week significantly reduces the risk of ischemic cardiovascular disease and diabetes type 2 in adults by nearly one-3rd (22). Physical activity is contributing to reduce body mass, control of glucose levels and arterial pressure, improvement of lipid levels, and enhancement of glucose tolerance.

The benefits of physical activity on the cardiovascular system may be partially explained by these effects (23). Specialized medical care needs to be given to people who are more likely to acquire cardiovascular disease (2). Heart disease is one of the most serious global health issues. The rising frequency of heart problems in older individuals and the resulting disability they cause have serious societal effects, even with the advances in scientific research and cardiac operations (24). Other research, in contrast to predictions, shows that patients' quality of life did not significantly increase following surgery (25).

2.3. Etiology of Cardiovascular Diseases

A number of difficulties can arise from the cardiac system, including transmission system problems, rheumatic heart disease, and endocarditis (26). It is important to treat the risk factors that contribute to atherosclerosis even though there are many variables that can directly cause CVD, such as embolism in individuals with atrial fibrillation that results in ischemic stroke or rheumatic fever that results in valvular heart disease. This is due to the fact that atherosclerosis is a common factor in the development of CVD. Atherosclerosis and other metabolic conditions, such as metabolic syndrome, diabetes mellitus, and hypertension, are common in people with cardiovascular disease (CVD) and are strongly linked to certain lifestyle factors, such as excessive calorie intake, sedentary behavior, and consumption of foods high in saturated fats, added carbohydrates, and sugar (27).

Nine modifiable risk factors were found to account for 90% of the variation in the risk of experiencing a first myocardial infarction (MI) among the participants in the inter-heart studies, which included people from 52 different countries with varying socioeconomic backgrounds. These risk factors included chronic alcohol use, high blood pressure, high cholesterol, belly fat, psychological and social variables, and smoking abuse. It is important to emphasize that this study, across all demographic groups, discovered a direct correlation between smoking and 36% of the risk of MI (28). Additional large-scale cohort analyses have demonstrated a strong

association and predictive importance between smoking, glucose intolerance, hypertension, and dyslipidemia.

Between 60 and 90 percent of cases of coronary heart disease were in those who had at least one factor that poses a danger to the general public. The American Heart Association has incorporated these findings into the context of health promotion initiatives, highlighting seven recommendations to reduce the risk of cardiovascular disease. They include giving up smoking, exercising frequently, eating a healthy diet, and controlling hypertension, a high body mass index, blood sugar, and high cholesterol levels to the best of their abilities (29, 30). However, the effects of immutable characteristics like gender, age, and heredity vary (31). Experiencing cardiovascular disease or death from CVD at younger ages (before 55 in males or 65 in females) in a close family member is a separate risk factor for developing atherosclerosis in the person (32).

2.4. Epidemiology of Cardiovascular Diseases

Global morbidity and mortality from cardiovascular disease are already significantly influenced, and this trend is expected to continue for the next few decades (33). Over the ensuing years, there will be a notable increase in the prevalence of cardiovascular disease (34). Globally, CVD is a major health concern (35). With a three- to five-fold increased risk, South Asians have a much higher prevalence of coronary artery diseases (CAD) than people from other ethnic groups.

Furthermore, there is an 80% increase in the prevalence of CVD among those living in low- and middle-income countries (36, 37). 2015 saw heart disease emerge as the leading cause of death, with cancer accounting for 595,930 of those deaths. Since 1975, cardiovascular disease has been one of the top two causes of death in the US, accounting for 633,842 deaths, or 1 in every 4 deaths (38). According to the Global Health Association, 17.7 million deaths worldwide were attributed to cardiovascular disease in 2015. The additional expenses associated with cardiovascular disease are expected to be \$237 billion annually, more than those associated with diabetes and Alzheimer's combined. Moreover, it is projected that by 2035, these costs will reach \$368 billion (39).

In 2018, cardiovascular problems resulted in 23048 mortalities in Croatia, making up 43.7% of all fatalities, which is almost half of the total. Coronary heart disease is the predominant kind of cardiovascular illness, marked by the constriction or blockage of the coronary arteries due to atherosclerosis (40). According to statistics from the World Health Organization (WHO), between 60 and 85 percent of people worldwide live sedentary lifestyles. Both residents of industrialized and developing countries are included in this statistic. According to estimates from the World Health Organization, physical inactivity directly causes about 3.2 million deaths worldwide each year (41).

2.5. Pathophysiology of Cardiovascular Diseases

Atherosclerosis is a disease that affects the arteries and aorta as a result of blood vessel narrowing, which reduces or blocks blood flow (44). Numerous factors, including as dyslipidemia, immunological processes, inflammatory response, and impaired endothelial function, might affect the syndrome. These elements are thought to be the catalyst for the development of oily lines. which ones are important in terms of the panel formation that results in atherosclerosis (45). The components of the atheroma plaque include smooth muscle cell layers that adhere to one another and divide, extra tissue and lipids, and macrophages rich in lipids (46). These tumors have the potential to induce apoptosis in deeper levels as they enlarge. This may attract additional macrophages, which through atherosclerosis, may produce atherosclerotic plaques (47).

2.6. Cardiovascular Clinic and Physical Examination

These tumors have the potential to trigger apoptosis in deeper levels as they enlarge. This may attract additional macrophages, which through atherosclerosis, may produce atherosclerotic plaques (48). In the past, angina, a form of discomfort behind the sternum with a sharp pressure or crushing sensation, was a prevalent symptom of coronary artery disease patients. The jaw, neck, or left upper limb may all feel affected by this soreness. Furthermore, it could be linked to symptoms including nausea, vomiting, palpitations, excessive perspiration, fainting, or, in the worst situations, unexpected death (49).

Further evidence of an ischemia cause may be found in the experience of an increase in chest pain during physical activity or movement, followed by alleviation after resting or taking nitroglycerin (50). Most people with a thoracic aortic aneurysm don't have any symptoms at first, but as the illness worsens, symptoms could appear. The symptoms could range from sudden, severe thorax or back pain due to a fast rupture to coughing, dyspnea, or difficulty speaking (51). Similar to this, abdominal aortic aneurysms could not show any symptoms until they unexpectedly burst, resulting in excruciating pain in the abdomen or unconsciousness (52,53).

2.7. Evaluation of Cardiovascular Diseases

A detailed evaluation of the patient's medical history and a complete physical examination are required for the diagnosis of CVD, with special attention paid to the circulatory system, though other areas may also be taken into account. For example, if a patient exhibits symptoms that are frequently associated with obesity, such as angina, decreased ability to exercise, difficulty breathing at night, fainting (syncope or pre-syncope), claudication, the healthcare provider should perform a more thorough evaluation of the patient's medical history and physical state. Further diagnostic testing, such as an ECG and cardiac enzymes for patients with significant thoracic pain, should be ordered if necessary, depending on the specific clinical circumstances (54,55).

2.8. Treatment of Cardiovascular Diseases

Depending on the specific medical circumstances, there are several therapy options for cardiovascular disease. Among them are For acute strokes brought on by ischemic stroke, catheter-directed thrombolysis is a therapy option; for peripheral vascular disorders, angioplasty is performed. coronary stenting or surgical procedures for the treatment of coronary heart disease. However, people who already have CVD should be well educated about the need of secondary prevention, which includes changing risk factors and leading a healthy lifestyle (30). Heart surgery, physical exercise, a balanced diet, and medication are the main treatments for cardiovascular diseases (6).

2.8.1. Medical Treatment of Cardiovascular Diseases

Beta-blockers, angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibitors, and aspirin. ACE inhibitors and statins are two examples of medications used to treat cardiovascular conditions (56). The International Association for Pharm economics and Research on Outcomes defines pharmaceutical compliance as the extent to which a patient adheres to the prescribed schedule and dosage of a drug regimen (57). The majority of commonly prescribed medications for cardiovascular disease, including beta blockers, ACE inhibitors, statins, antiplatelets, and angiotensin II antagonists, are well tolerated and rarely cause major side effects (58).

2.8.2. Surgical Procedures for Cardiovascular Diseases

Furthermore, the discipline of cardiology frequently uses procedures like balloon angioplasty, cardiac transplantation, and the placement of transplanted organs in addition to more invasive ones. In order to treat cardiac problems, further procedures and devices such pacemakers, prosthetic valves, and patching could also be required (35). Heart operations are becoming less invasive as a result of the quick development of cardiovascular therapy. This strategy has effectively decreased the cardiovascular disease-related death rate (56).

However, there are still a lot of possible problems after heart surgery (8). On the other hand, heart valve problems might be inherited, appear later in life, or be brought on by an infection. The two main classifications of this condition are regurgitation/insufficiency and stenosis. Severe aortic stenosis is the most prevalent heart valve condition among the older population in the West. A shorter lifespan and a higher chance of death are linked to this syndrome. One could categorize artificial heart valves as biological or mechanical (60).

Extracorporeal circulation (ECC), which is frequently used in many cardiac surgical procedures, can cause a systemic inflammatory reaction. This can result in the release of chemicals that obstruct blood coagulation and the immune system's ability to respond. As such, those who have extended bouts of ECC are more likely to develop severe neurological abnormalities (61). ECC-related neurological damage can have serious repercussions, including decreased autonomy and a general decline in quality of life.

The two main variables associated with the reduction in functional autonomy are the length of ICU stay and the use of mechanical ventilation. These variables make it difficult for patients to complete daily tasks like eating and cleaning themselves after being released from the hospital (62).

2.9. Cardiac Surgery

The medical field of cardiac surgery focuses on diagnosing and surgically treating heart and thoracic aortic disorders. The development of cardiac operations, which began in the late 1800s, demonstrates the full spectrum of modern techniques (63). The diagnosis and surgical treatment of heart and thoracic aortic disorders are the main goals of the specialty of cardiac surgery in medicine. The development of heart surgery, which began in the late 1800s, shows the full range of contemporary techniques (64).

Cardiovascular surgery differentiates aside from other types of treatment because new methods and materials have been used, resulting in increased safety precautions and reduced risks during the perioperative period. Despite these advancements, postoperative complications continue to be common and have an effect on the length of hospital stay as well as the return to normal activities (65). Sternotomy is the procedure used for most heart surgeries, as shown in (Figure 2.2).



Figure 2.2: Cardiac operation room (72).

After heart surgery, the average period of hospital stay is approximately ten days (68). Patients often stay in the ICU at a hospital for around 48 hours following cardiac surgery, during which time nurses closely monitor their vital signs, oxygen saturation, and heart rate. thoracostomy procedures to remove hemopericardium and hemothorax (69). Revascularization is a surgical technique used to treat atherosclerosis-aggravated ischemic heart disease (70,71).

2.9.1. Indications for Cardiac Surgery

Heart surgery and interventional cardiac treatments are classified together in the global system for the classification of diseases and health conditions under the system that uses symbols to name ailments. Individuals with valve cardiac conditions are able to distinguish between stenotic lesions and regurgitation. In place of the four-point scale used for angiographic grading in the catheterization lab, a scale ranging from mild to serious is sometimes employed to assess valve diseases. Valve surgery is necessary for patients with severe stenosis or regurgitation. Physicians can replace or repair a patient's broken valve (73).

The primary cause of mitral stenosis, rheumatic heart disease, is not commonly observed in developed countries. The cause of mitral regurgitation determines the course of treatment (74). Cardiac surgery is a treatment option for many different heart rhythm disorders. Similar to implanted devices, pacemakers can be used to treat severe heart failure through cardiac synchronization, ventricular arrhythmia, and twin chamber devices for atrioventricular blocking.

When talking about congenital cardiac conditions, it's critical to distinguish between cyanotic and non-cyanotic areas. In medicine, it is possible to patch up holes in the heart's chambers or ventricles. Many medical conditions, including transposition of the main vessels, tetralogy of Fallot, and Ebstein abnormality, require specialized operations. Atrial myxoma is the most common benign heart tumor. The most typical type of malignant development in the heart is a sarcoma. There are instances when coronary artery disease is best treated by CABG (75).

2.9.2. Common Types of Cardiac Surgery

-Coronary artery bypass grafting: CABG surgery is a common treatment for coronary ischemia (76). This procedure, also known as "revascularization," aims to redirect blood flow from the

coronary artery to another area of the body in order to prevent a solid clot from forming there. This can be accomplished in a variety of ways, and the vessels utilized can originate from various locations (77). Due to its remarkable efficacy in treating patients with left main coronary artery disease and multiple vessels, coronary artery bypass grafting remains one of the most common major surgeries. Even though the average patient is now at a higher risk, over time, there has been a significant decrease in both surgical deaths and other issues. The five-year and ten-year survival rates are 85% and 95%, respectively (78).

Those who have tried medication and percutaneous coronary intervention (PCI) but neither of them has proved effective may choose CABG surgery. Previous studies have demonstrated that, in comparison to PCI, CABG treatment is associated with decreased rates and risks of myocardial infarction, coronary coronary mortality, and repeat revascularizations (79). Alert signs in most cases, CABG is advised when PCI has failed to remove high-grade blockages on both of the primary coronary arteries (80).

-Surgery for valve diseases: Artificial or bioprosthetic valves can be used to replace a natural valve that has been damaged or becomes ill. If these valves are appropriately tested, submitted to, and then given anticoagulant treatment, they both show a longer lifespan when compared to natural valves. medicine throughout the duration of the patient's life (81).

For individuals with symptoms or significant constriction or leaking of the aortic valve, aortic valve replacement or repair (AVR) is an option. After CABG or other heart valve surgery, it is also a possibility for those with mild aortic valve constriction or leakage. Patients with mild to severe mitral regurgitation or stenosis have their mitral valves replaced or repaired. As an alternative, those undergoing other cardiac procedures or those with less severe tricuspid malfunction may have their tricuspid valve repaired or replaced (82).

-Congenital heart defects surgery: Congenital heart disorders are conditions affecting the heart that arise in infancy. They might alter the natural blood pumping function of the heart. The most common birth abnormality is heart disease, which is present from birth (83). Congenital heart disease has been successfully treated with both medical and surgical approaches. However, many treatments focus more on comfort than recovery, and some survivors continue to have long-term problems with their electrical conductivity and blood flow (84).

13

2.9.3. Complications after Cardiac Surgery

Congenital heart disease has responded well to both medicinal and surgical therapies. The majority of post-heart surgery complications are brought on by diseases and risk factors linked to the procedure. Of particular interest are age, gender, length of cardiopulmonary bypass, diabetes, obesity, and history of renal or cardiovascular disease. and an unexpected heart attack (85).

Congenital cardiovascular disease has been successfully treated surgically and medically, yet many patients experience difficulties with their hearts, lungs, and nerves following heart surgery. Following a sudden myocardial infarction or congestive heart failure, cardiac issues are more prone to occur. On the other hand, a stroke could happen in the brain the day after surgery. Lung tissue is the source of sickness for those suffering from atelectasis, respiratory infections, severe breathing difficulties, acute respiratory distress syndrome, or pleural fluid (66).

Congenital heart disease has been successfully treated with both medication and surgery. Bleeding after surgery is also a major problem (62), and renal failure can occasionally result from problems with kidney function (86). A type 5 myocardial infarction, according to the worldwide classification, occurs after a cardiac procedure. Five to ten percent of occurrences are typical (89). Individuals who have had surgery frequently have edema, fevers, and elevated inflammatory marker levels. Thus, distinguishing between individuals who are infected and those who are really ill may be challenging (90). New details may become evident over time. If symptoms appear on day two or day three after surgery, they should be investigated (91).

2.9.4. Clinical Significance of Cardiac Surgery

Following cardiac surgery, the prognosis, symptoms, likelihood of ischemic consequences, and functional level can all improve (82). Following cardiac surgery, many report an improvement in their quality of life. If a patient's disease symptoms can be reduced and their functional abilities can be enhanced, their quality of life will increase. Even so, complications from more involved surgical operations may necessitate longer stays in the intensive care unit and bed rest; cardiac bypasses are frequently utilized in combination with one another. (8).

Cardiothoracic surgery is a crucial component in maintaining the health of your circulatory and cardiac systems. The number of people worldwide who suffer from cardiovascular diseases has been progressively increasing due to a bigger change in epidemiology, which includes atherosclerosis, high blood pressure, and other risk factors. About 1% to 2% of the US healthcare budget, or \$20 billion, is spent on heart surgery. For this type of treatment, the average cost of hospital stays is \$40,000 (92).

2.10. Physical Therapeutic Procedures

2.10.1. Physical Activity

Exercise It is defined as "body movement that is caused by the contraction of skeletal muscles and that increases energy consumption." (93). Any movement of your body that is powered by your skeletal muscles is considered physical activity (94). Regular physical activity is a basic health habit that has a substantial impact on the mental and physical well-being of an individual with heart disease (4).

Regular participation in mild to moderate exercise reduces the risk of suffering from secondary cardiac events and shortens hospital stays (95), relieves pain (96), lessens symptoms of depression (97), eases tension or anxiety (98), and enhances a healthy lifestyle (99). Beginning exercising after cardiac surgery helps patients improve, but not exercising adequately can make recovery more difficult (10).

In contrast to the individuals who did not take a component, individuals who had cardiac surgery and underwent cardiac rehabilitation (CR), or physiotherapist-supervised exercise, reported being able to do more, consuming shorter periods in the hospital after surgery, experiencing fewer postoperative complications (13), and experiencing fewer readmissions (101). People who were physically active after surgery had a lower incidence of cardiovascular problems over a longer length of time (101).

As reported by Itagaki et al., 17% of patients had decreased physical ability following cardiac surgery. There are several medical reasons that could have anticipated the decline, some of which are modifiable. These results suggest that more interventional research might be

conducted to help restore the loss of physical functionality in older adults undergoing cardiac surgery, both before and after the surgery (105).

Nonetheless, the findings indicate that physical activity reduces the risk of cardiovascular disorders in individuals from middle age to early old age (111). Numerous research have examined the relationship between variations in physical activity levels and certain heart health outcomes, particularly with regard to age and sex disparities amongst those over 65 (113). Research indicates that regular physical exercise and managing risk factors for cardiovascular illnesses reduce the number of problems following surgery and hospital readmissions, as well as the mortality rate for individuals with cardiac diseases (101).

In order to reduce risks, exercise is crucial for patients recovering from cardiac surgery; yet, many post-operative patients do not engage in enough physical activity (114). According to research by Van Laar et al. (10), 40% of patients who had cardiac surgery weren't exercising after the procedure. Moreover, Brocks et al. observed that after receiving a heart transplant, more over half of the women in her research did not engage in any physical activity. Moreover, research that examined individuals who underwent heart surgery and then participated in CR (116).

2.10.2. Early Mobilization

Early mobilization is the technique of participating in physical activity within the first two to five days following a severe illness or disease, such as walking and passive range of motion exercises (12). Participating in physical exercise during the recovery period after heart surgery has been linked to shorter hospital stays and a lower rate of complications following heart surgery (129). Therefore, it is critical to develop effective techniques to reduce the adverse consequences of bed rest after heart surgery. Interest has grown in early mobilization as a means of reducing the harmful consequences of extended bed rest (12). When a patient presents with appropriate clinical characteristics for the intervention, early mobilization in cardiac surgery is started in the first few hours after the surgery (130).

2.10.3. Functional Exercises

The purpose of exercise is to improve or maintain one or more aspects of physical fitness through the intentional and methodical performance of repetitive physical motions. In conclusion, exercise improves vascular health by lowering arterial stiffness and hypertension (117). Patients following open-heart surgery are often administered respiratory therapy and breathing exercises, either with or without a machine to avoid or prevent the emergence of a deterioration in pulmonary function. The interventions include deep breathing exercises (68), breathing muscle exercises (120), cough stimulation assistance (121), early mobilization and placement (118), spirometry as an incentive (IS), positive lung pressure during expiration (119), and a dynamic sequence of active cycle of breathing techniques (120).

Engaging in before -operation It has been known for a while that strengthening the breathing muscles prior to surgery reduces the risk of anesthesia-related complications. It also reduces the length of time patients stay in the hospital following surgery, lessens post-operative problems, and enhances the ability of the respiratory system to function (123).

Physical activity shortens hospital stays, even those in intensive care units (124). Exercise-based cardiac rehabilitation (CR) is commonly recommended for people who have had valve replacement surgery (125). Exercise is essential for hastening the healing process following surgery. Cardiovascular rehabilitation has frequently made use of a variety of techniques and tools (126). During the early stages of rehabilitation activities, patients who undergo heart surgery have poorer exercise capacity than those who undergo less invasive or non-cardiac operations (127). The severity of the illness and the high rate of comorbidities (128), the length of the muscle deconditioning phase (129), pain at the site of a surgical incision (130), and the thoracic drainage and extracorporeal circulation (131) are all associated with these changes.

As a result, it is frequently observed that functional ability decreases when a patient is in the intensive care unit (97). Scientifically speaking, this claim is mainly backed by the well-established positive effects of exercise training on cardiac conditions in general, with an emphasis on those who have coronary heart disease in particular (125). A recent study that involved a sizable number of people in the US revealed that taking part in cardiac rehabilitation was associated with a reduction in hospital admissions and the death rate within the first year

following CR completion (132). However, there are no widely accepted and evaluated standards for the nature, scope, mode, length, and level of exercise-focused cardiac rehabilitation after valve replacement or repair (125).

2.10.4. Functional Capacity

The initial essential phase to evaluating the risk of cardiac problems prior to surgery has been measuring functional capacity (133). There have been concerns raised about the validity of employing interviews to assess functional capability (134). A decrease in functional ability has been shown in multiple studies to occur during the preoperative and postoperative phases of heart surgery (131). In spite of this, patients who did not take part in any research procedure showed spontaneous restoration of functional capacity (135). In other situations, such as those involving geriatric people, it may be sufficient to decrease physical activity levels and lengthen the recovery period (136). To determine customized therapies that take into account particular characteristics like technique, strength, frequency, and period, personalized assessments are crucial (137).

For geriatric patients the most suitable test used to evaluate functional capability is the 2MWT (139). However, there was a recorded instance of spontaneous functional ability recovery, even in those without participation in any particular study program (135). It may be sufficient in some situations, such as with elderly patients, to decrease training volume and lengthen recovery sessions (136). Personalized assessments are essential for recommending an organized treatment plan that considers particular attributes including modality, intensity, frequency, and duration (137). and thus, the long-term functional outcomes after hospitalization (138).

2.10.5. Balance

Managing the position of the center of gravity, or the focal point of weight distribution, is referred to as balance. To keep control over the body's center of gravity, the Central Nervous System (CNS) controls postural control throughout both stationary and locomotor movements (148). Static balance and dynamic balance are the two subcategories under balance. The initial one concerns the maintenance of the individual's immobile posture. Dynamic balance, another name for postural performance, is the ability to actively control one's body's alignment to
promote effective mobility and avoid falling in a variety of conditions, both at rest and when moving (149).

All voluntary motor abilities are based on balance, which is also necessary for performing daily tasks (150). The center of gravity's position, the work required, the stability limit, and the supporting surface all have an impact on the equilibrium. The forces exerted on the body in this position are minimal because the center of gravity is situated anterior to the second sacral vertebra. The part of the body that experiences the combined force of gravity and body weight is referred to as the support surface. When sitting, the main supporting structure is the thighs and hips, and when standing, the main supporting structure is the feet (151).

Stability depends mostly on the integration of data from the vestibular, somatosensory, and visual systems (152). The three main sensory systems are in charge of coordinating movement, observing variations in both linear and rotational acceleration, and recognizing the direction of gravity in addition to the position, velocity, and contact of body parts with outside objects (153). Strength and balance are the two essential components of physical fitness. In order to safely perform activities of daily life, postural balance—a complex motor skill that involves adjusting one's body position to prevent falls—is essential (154).

People with cardiovascular disease may experience impaired lower limb function and problems with balance. Postural instability may result from this, which could negatively impact patients' care and general quality of life (155). Deficits in balance are also associated with a higher chance of falling, a higher chance of being sick and dying, and higher healthcare costs (156).

3. METHOD

3.1 Patients and Study Design

This research evaluated the outcomes of functional exercises and early mobilization in older individuals who have had cardiac surgery through a single-blind controlled study. The purpose of the study was to assess how these therapies affected the patients' stability, functional status, and level of physical activity.

This study was accepted to be medically appropriate by the Clinical Research Ethics Committee of the Health Ministry of Iraq (Decision Number: 903 in 2023/14/12), (Appendix 1). The study was conducted at the Ibn Al-Bitar Specialties Center for Cardiac Surgery in Baghdad, Iraq and data were collected between December 2023 and January 2024.

A total of 100 geriatric patients—69 men and 31 women—who had undergone heart surgery and were up to 65 years old—voluntarily took part in the study. There were fifty patients in each of the two groups that the participants were divided into: the early mobilization group (Group A) and the control group (Group B). The patients in early mobilization group underwent early mobilization and functional exercises program, while the patients served as the control group did not receive the therapy protocol applied in the early mobilization group (Table 3.1.).

3.1.1. Inclusion Criteria

Individuals who had previously had valve replacement procedures or coronary artery bypass grafting (CABG) and if all of these procedures were done by sternotomy were included in the study. The study's patients were all classified as geriatric, with ages ranging from 65 to 75. There were people of both genders in the sample. Throughout their recovery, patients who were awake, conscious, and able to communicate vocally as well as those who were able to understand and complete scales and questionnaires. Patients who signed consent forms voluntarily agreed to participate, as well as those who successfully passed the two-minute walk test (2MWT), which assesses how long it takes to walk for two minutes.

3.1.2. Exclusion Criteria

Patients unable to complete the two-minute walk test (2MWT), scales, or questionnaires. Individuals who suffered from stroke, extensive bleeding, renal failure or insufficiency, atrial fibrillation, the necessity for a second operation, or a serious infection of the sternal wound following surgery. Those who struggle with vocal and auditory communication. individuals who underwent surgery and had a pacemaker inserted. those who have experienced a prior cerebrovascular accident. Those who have suffered from neurological disorders like hemiplegia after heart surgery and mental health problems like intellectual incapacity.

3.2. Treatment Procedure

Group A	On the 1st and 2nd post-operative days	In the ICU: shoulder & neck mobilization, head control, good hand grasp, balance in sitting position with breathing exercises by spirometry & postural drainage by cupping (8 times per day).
	On the 3rd and 7th post-operative days	Breathing exercises, inspiratory muscle strength, postural drainage, functional exercise (stand up and sitting down on the chair, walking inward, back-ward ,and sideways), weight shifts from left to right, step up inside the patch , one leg stand, squatting leaning against wall) for three times per the day and repetition fifteen times (3 times per day for 15 repetition) and supervised walking with increments of 2 minutes, as tolerated up to 6 minutes or more at the morning, afternoon, evening and at night.
Group B	On the 1st and 2nd post-operative days	In the ICU: breathing exercises by spirometry & postural drainage by cupping (4 times per day).
	On the 3rd and 7th post-operative days	Breathing exercises, inspiratory muscle strength, postural drainage, walking as tolerated up to 5 minutes at the morning and the evening.

Table 3.1: Therapy program for group A and B.

• Starting from the first and second day after surgery, the patient underwent shoulder and neck mobilization as showed in Figure 3.1.



Figure 3.1: Head and shoulder mobilization.

• Demonstrated a hand grasp, maintained balance while sitting as showed in Figure 3.2.



Figure 3.2: Balance control with sitting position and hand grasp.

• Performed breathing exercises by using spirometry as showed in Figure 3.3.



Figure 3.3: Improve respiratory muscle by spirometry.

• Additionally, postural drainage was administered using cupping hand, with a frequency at least must be three times per day as showed in Figure 3.4.



Figure 3.4: Coughing training for remove secretion.

3.3. Demographic and Clinical Information Collection

Data was collected for all patients' height, weight, body mass index (BMI), gender, age, social situation, and usage of alcohol and cigarettes on the seventh day following surgery. Behavioral habits, past medical history of chronic conditions (e.g., high blood pressure, hyperthyroidism, bronchial allergies, high cholesterol), length of stay in the intensive care unit, type of heart surgery, and prior procedures are all taken into consideration (Appendix 2).

3.4. Outcome Measurements

On the seventh day following cardiac surgery, the following tests, scales, and questionnaires were given to all study participants. To assess levels of physical activity, the Short-Form International Physical Activity Questionnaire (SF-IPAQ) is utilized. The two-minute walking test (2MWT) is employed to assess an individual's status of functioning. The Timed Up and Go Test (TUG) is used to assess the degree of balance and the probability of falls. One well-known tool for assessing physical performance and identifying fragile people is the short physical performance battery (SPPB) exam.

3.4.1. International Physical Activity Questionnaire

The Short Form of the International Physical Activity Questionnaire (SF-IPAQ) was used to measure physical activity (PA). Participants were asked to describe how many days they had spent performing vigorous, moderate, and walking activities over the course of the previous week, as well as the duration of those activities (157). They were applied to each activity in order to assign an approximate MET (metabolic equivalent of task) value (158). Based on their SF-IPAQ scores, participants were classified as having high, moderate, or low levels of physical activity basics (159). People were classified as inactive if they did not meet the criteria for low levels of physical activity, which were determined by the length and frequency of vigorous, moderate, or walking activities. On the other hand, people who met the requirements for classifications as high or moderate in physical activity were regarded as active (160,161). The score calculated according global questionnaire (Appendix 3).

3.4.2. Two Minute Walking Test

The 2MWT was performed over a 50-ft (15.2-m) out-and-back course. Participants were instructed to walk as fast as they could until asked to stop. They were also told not to worry if they had to slow down or rest, but that if they stopped they should start walking again as soon as they felt ready to do so. When 1 minute had elapsed, they were told "You are doing well; you have 1 minute left." Participants stopped walking at 2 minutes, and the distance covered was documented (140, 161-166), (Figure 3.5), (Appendix 4).



Figure 3.5: Two minute walk test (167).

3.4.3. Time Up and Go Test

The Time Up and Go Test is used to assess the degree of balance and fall risk. The test begins with the subject seated. Next, they have to get a standing position and walk three meters. Finally, they must return to the chair and sit again. The patient gets up from the chair, sits down, and begins the test by standing up, moving three meters, going back to the chair, and sitting down again. The purpose of this test is to evaluate the level of mobility (Figure 3.6.), (168-170), (Appendix 5).



Figure 3.6: Time up and Go test (170).

3.4.4. Short Physical Performance Battery

The Short Physical Performance Battery (SPPB) consists of three tests: (i) static standing balance, where participants are required to maintain three different positions (side-by-side, semi-tandem, and tandem) for 10 seconds each; (ii) gait speed, which involves walking a distance of 4 meters and recording the best time out of two trials; and (iii) chair rise, where participants must stand up and sit down five times consecutively as quickly as possible. The scoring of each individual test ranges from 0 to 4 points, with higher scores indicating better performance. The three test scores are then summed to calculate an overall SPPB performance score, which can range from 0 to 12 points. This score is then separated into four groups (G1-G4) based on certain cut-points (Figure 3.7.), (171-175), (Appendix 6).



Figure (3.7.A-F): SPPB assessment.

3.5. Sample Size

The sample size was determined using the G* Power 3.1.7.9 software tool developed by Heinrich-Heine-Universitas in Düsseldorf, Germany. The sample size calculation was conducted to determine the minimum number of participants needed to detect a medium effect size of 0.3 for the difference in the primary outcome between the two groups. A minimum of 41 patients is required per group in order to detect this difference with a significance level (α) of 0.05 and a study power of 80%. In order to account for potential attrition of up to 17%, we made the decision to enroll 50 patients each group. The determination of the sample size was determined by considering the 2-sided difference between two groups using an independent samples test.

3.6. Statistical Analysis

The statistical data is displayed as numerical values and percentages for the categorical variables, and it is examined through the utilization of the Chi-square test. The mean and standard deviation (SD) were used to show quantitative parametric data, which were examined using an independent samples student t-test. The median and interquartile range were used to present quantitative non-parametric variables, which were evaluated using the Independent-Samples Mann-Whitney U Test. The SF-IPAQ served as a valuable instrument for evaluating physical activity in the elderly population, whereas the 2MWT is a straightforward and useful test employed to quantify an individual's functional capability and ability to tolerate exercise. The paired samples test was utilized to examine the existence of disparity in the vital signs prior to and subsequent to the 2MWT. Pearson's and Spearman's correlation coefficients were employed to assess the relationship between various variables. The study was conducted using IBM SPSS 28 program for windows. A P-value less than 0.05 is deemed to be statistically significant.

4. RESULTS

The sample size for the study was 100 people, whose average age was 67.08 years. Sixty-nine percent of the participants were male, and seventy-six percent had completed elementary school. 170.49 centimeters was the average length, 79.70 kg was the average weight, and 27.78 (kg/m2) was the average BMI. The study comprised 100 individuals whose clinical histories revealed a noteworthy preponderance of specific conditions: hypertension (75.0%), diabetes (35.0%), smoking (61.0%), and hyperlipidemia (91.0%). Ninety percent of the individuals underwent sternotomy surgery, and 62.0% of them reported having other problems. Of the 17.0% of patients who had had prior surgery, the distribution was as follows: 41.2% had had cesarean sections, 23.5% had had joint replacements, and a range of other procedures. Along 93.0% of the patients receiving it, CABG was the most frequently performed surgery (Table 4.1).

	Mean	SD
Age	67.08	2.87
Length	170.49	7.13
Weight	79.70	11.26
BMI (Kg/m ²)	27.78	3.33
	Ν	%
Sex		
Male	69	69
Female	31	31
Marital Status		
Married	100	100.00
Educational level		
Primary	76	76.0
Secondary	9	9.0
College	15	15.0

Table 4.1:	Characteristics	of the	patients.

The patients ranged in age from 65 to 80 years old, with a mean age of 67.08 years (SD = 2.87). The patients' mean weight was 79.70 kg (SD = 11.26) and their mean length was 170.49 cm (SD = 7.13). The patients' average Body Mass Index (BMI) was 27.78 (Kg/m²) (SD = 3.33), (Table 4.2).

		Group (A) with early mobilization and functional exercise (N=50)	Group (B) without early mobilization and functional exercise (N=50)	P-value
		Mean ± SD	Mean ± SD	
Age		66.92 ± 2.86	67.24 ± 2.91	0.580
Length		169.52 ± 7.50	171.46 ± 6.67	0.175
Weight		75.32 ± 11.35	84.08 ± 9.39	<0.001*
BMI		26.51 ± 3.32	29.04 ± 2.85	<0.001*
		N (%)	N (%)	P-value
Gender	Male	31 (62%)	38 (76%)	0.13
	Female	19 (38%)	12 (24 %)	
Educational level	Primary	35 (70%)	41 (82%)	0.229
	Secondary	7 (14%)	2 (4%)	_
	College	8 (16%)	7 (14%)	

Table 4.2: Comparison of patients' characteristics across the two groups.

*: significant as P value ≤ 0.05 , Number ; N

Regarding weight and BMI, there was a statistically significant difference between the early mobilization groups. The patients in group B had a mean weight of 84.08 kg with a standard deviation of 9.39, which was higher than the mean weight of 75.32 kg in group A (P<0.001). The patients in group B had a mean BMI of 29.04 kg/m2 with (SD= 2.85), P<0.001, higher than the mean BMI of group A, which was 26.51 kg/m2 with (SD= 3.32).



Figure 4.4: Mean weight of patients in group A and group B.



Figure 4.5: Mean BMI of patients in group A and group B.

		Group (A) with mobilization and functional ex (N=50)	Group (B) without early mobilization and functional ex (N=50)	P-value
Smoker		28 (56%)	33 (66%)	0.305
Drinking		3 (6%)	6 (12%)	0.487
Hypertension		37 (74%)	38 (76%)	0.817
Diabetic		17 (34%)	18 (36%)	0.834
Hyperlipidemia		46 (92%)	45 (90%)	>0.999
Other diseases		32 (64%)	30 (60%)	0.680
Is surgery by sternotomy	No	5 (10%)	5 (10%)	>0.999
	Yes	45 (90%)	45 (90%)	-
Was there old surgery	No	42 (84%)	41 (82%)	0.945
	Cesarean operation	4 (8%)	3 (6%)	
	Joint surgery	1 (2%)	3 (6%)	_
	Hernia operation	1 (2%)	1 (2%)	
	Eye operation	1 (2%)	1 (2%)	
	Appendicitis	1 (2%)	0 (0%)	_
	Thyroidectomy	0 (0%)	1 (2%)	
Stay period in ICU (in days)	2 days	39 (78%)	41 (82%)	0.617
	3 days	11 (22%)	9 (18%)	

Table 4.3: Comparison of patients' clinical history across the two groups.

Table 4.3 shows the comparison of patients' clinical history across groups. There was no statistically significant difference between the two groups regarding patients' clinical history.

	Group (A) with early mobilization and functional ex (N=50)	Group (B) without early mobilization and functional ex (N=50)	P-value
Distance Walked in 2 minutes	135.6 ± 9.29	123.4 ± 8.48	<0.001*
Vital signs			
SPO2 before	95.92 ± 1.41	92.94 ± 11.63	0.078
SPO2 After	98.34 ± 0.89	98.22 ± 1.3	0.592
PR before	83.26 ± 5.17	82.68 ± 3.89	0.527
PR After	93.96 ± 5.19	93.5 ± 5.33	0.663
Systolic BP before	126.74 ± 6.51	126.3 ± 6.31	0.732
Diastolic BP before	84.6 ± 5.42	84.4 ± 5.01	0.849
Systolic BP After	130.48 ± 7.3	130.16 ± 8.97	0.845
Diastolic BP After	85.6 ± 5.12	85.72 ± 5.57	0.911

Table 4.4: Comparison of 2MWT across early mobilization and functional exercise.

*: significant as P value ≤ 0.05 , Pulse Rate: PR, Saturation pulse oxygen level: SPO2, Blood pressure: BP.

Regarding the distance walked in two minutes, there was a statistically significant difference between the early mobilization groups. The mean walking distance in two minutes revealed a statistically significant difference: the mean walking distance in group (A) was higher at 135.6 \pm 9.29 than the mean walking distance in group (B) was lower at 123.4 \pm 8.48, P<0.001, (Table 4.4).



Figure 4.3: Mean distance walked in 2 minutes of patients in group A and group B.

		Group (A) with early mobilization and functional exercise program (N=50)	Group (B) without early mobilization and functional exercise program (N=50)	P-value
Type of physical activity	Low	10 (20%)	45 (90%)	<0.001*
	Moderate	40 (80%)	5 (10%)	
		Mean ± SD	Mean ± SD	P-value
SF-IPAQ		556.16 ± 91.47	389.44 ± 85.7	<0.001*
TUG		11.01 ± 1.24	12.31 ± 1.21	<0.001*
		Median (IQR)	Median (IQR)	P-value
SPPB		12.0 (0.0)	10.0 (0.0)	<0.001*

Table 4.5: Association of physical activity levels and functional performance measures in older adults across early mobilization and functional exercise groups.

*: significant as P value ≤ 0.05

Regarding the type of physical activity, TUG and SPPB, there was a statistically significant difference between the early mobilization program groups. There was a statistically significant difference in the type of physical activity between the groups. Specifically, patients in group A 10 (20%) had a lower percentage of low physical activity compared to patients in group B 45 (90%), while patients in group A 40 (80%) had a higher percentage of moderate

physical activity compared to patients in group B 5 (10%) (P<0.001). The patients in group (B) had a mean SF-IPAQ of 389.44 with an SD of 85.7, P<0.001, whereas the mean SF-IPAQ amount in group (A) was 556.16 with an SD of 91.47.



Figure 4.4: Type of physical activity of patients in group A and group B.



Figure 4.5: Mean SF-IPAQ number of patients in group A and group B.



Figure 4.6: Mean TUG of patients in group A and group B.



Figure 4.7: Median SPPB of patients in group A and group B.

Group (A) with early mobilization and functional ex (N=50)		2 MWT	SF-IPAQ amount	TUG	SPPB
Distance Walked in 2 minutes	Pearson Correlation				
	P-value				
SF-IPAQ amount	Pearson Correlation	0.957			
	P-value	<0.001*			
TUG	Pearson Correlation	-0.768	-0.826		
	P-value	<0.001*	<0.001*		
SPPB	Spearman Correlation	0.918	0.955	-0.631	
	P-value	<0.001*	<0.001*	<0.001*	

Table 4.6: Correlation of 2MWT, SF-IPAQ, TUG, SPPB in group (B) patients without early mobilization and functional exercise.

*: significant as P value ≤ 0.05

A strong positive connection was indicated by the correlation coefficient of r = 0.957 (p < 0.001) between the amount of SF-IPAQ and 2 MWT. This result implies that the amount of SF-IPAQ grows in proportion to the distance walked in two minutes. Additionally, there was a significant negative association (correlation coefficient of r = -0.768; p < 0.001) between 2MWT and TUG. This finding suggests increased mobility and balance because it shows that the time required to complete the TUG test tends to decrease as the distance walked in two minutes increases.

Additionally, SF-IPAQ value and TUG were shown to be strongly correlated negatively (correlation coefficient: r = -0.826; p < 0.001). This result indicates that the TUG test takes less time to complete the higher the MET quantity, demonstrating improved mobility and balance. Between SPPB and 2 MWT and SF-IPAQ, a strong positive association was discovered; the correlation coefficients were r = 0.918 (p < 0.001) and r = 0.955 (p < 0.001), respectively. With a correlation coefficient of r = -0.631 (p < 0.001), a moderately negative association was discovered between SPPB and TUG.



Figure 4.8: Scatterplot for 2MWT and SF-IPAQ amount for group (A) patients.



Figure 4.9: Scatterplot for 2MWT and TUG for group (A) patients.



Figure 4.10: Scatterplot for SF-IPAQ amount and TUG for group (A) patients.



Figure 6.11: Scatterplot for 2MWT and SPPB for group (A) patients.



Figure 4.12: Scatterplot for SF-IPAQ amount and SPPB for group (A) patients.



Figure 4.13: Scatterplot for TUG and SPPB for group (A) patients.

Group (B) without early mobilization and functional ex (N=50)		2MWT	SF-IPAQ amount	TUG	SPPB
Distance Walked in 2 minutes	Pearson Correlation				
	P-value				
SF-IPAQ	Pearson Correlation	0.746			
	P-value	<0.001*			
TUG	Pearson Correlation	-0.278	-0.233		
	P-value	0.051	0.104		
SPPB	Spearman Correlation	0.574	0.414	-0.464	
	P-value	<0.001*	<0.001*	<0.001*	

Table 4.7: Correlation of 2MWT, SF-IPAQ, TUG, SPPB in group (B) patients without early mobilization and functional exercise.

*: significant as P value ≤ 0.05

Additionally, SF-IPAQ value and TUG were found strongly correlated negatively (correlation coefficient: r = -0.826; p < 0.001). This result indicates that the TUG test takes less time to complete the higher the MET quantity, demonstrating improved mobility and balance. Between SPPB and 2 MWT and SF-IPAQ, a strong positive association was discovered; the correlation coefficients were r = 0.918 (p < 0.001) and r = 0.955 (p < 0.001), respectively. With a correlation coefficient of r = -0.631 (p < 0.001), a moderately negative association was discovered between SPPB and TUG.



Figure 4.14: Scatterplot for 2MWT and SF-IPAQ amount for group (B) patients.



Figure 4.15: Scatterplot for 2MWT and SPPB for group (B) patients.



Figure 4.16: Scatterplot for SF-IPAQ and SPPB for group (B) patients.



Figure 4.17: Scatterplot for TUG and SPPB for group (B) patients.

5. DISCUSSION

In this study, we examined how early mobilization and functional exercises affected patients' physical activity (PA), functional ability, and balance after heart surgery. The results of this study have shown that there is a statistically significant difference in weight and BMI between the early mobilization program group (Group A). In terms of the distance walked in two minutes, there was a statistically significant difference between the early mobilization group. Additionally, there was a statistically significant difference in the type of physical activity, SF-IPAQ, TUG, and SPPB scores between the early mobilization program group. In contrast to moderate physical activity, which was exhibited by a higher percentage of patients in Group A 40 (80%) than in Group B.

The prevalence of cardiovascular risk factors was found to be 23.7% for past smoking, 18.0% for current smoking, 56.7% for hypertension, 19.7% for diabetes, 38.3% for dyslipidemia, 39.0% for overweight, and 10.7% for obesity across the board in the sample, according to Macchi et al. (177). Our findings and these results showed a positive correlation. Our study's findings showed that there was a statistically significant difference between the early mobilization program groups in terms of the distance walked in two minutes, in Group A walking a greater distance in two minutes than Group B. The 2MWT, which assessed functional status, was associated with the early mobilization program group following cardiac surgery. According to Torres D. et al.'s (178) findings, patients who received early mobilization following heart surgery had higher functional capacities than those of the control group. The intervention group also showed improvements in functional capacity after seven days following cardiac surgery. This was consistent with our research, which shown that patients in Group A who underwent assessment on the seventh postoperative day after surgery had improved in terms of their functional capacity. Additionally, we assessed patients with 2MWT; in contrast, their study evaluated them using 6MWT.

According to a study, the cardiac postoperative 6MWT distance varied significantly between males and females. Men superior to women in terms of functional capacity, as measured by the 6MWT distance on the sixth post-operative day. Despite using different tests, this was consistent

with the results of our investigation because the patients in it were elderly and so underwent testing using the 2-MWT (13).

According to Cui Z et al. (179), participants in the precision early ambulation (PEA) group walked significantly further on day 3 following cardiac surgery than those in the control group. PEA group members also covered significantly more ground than those in the control group. This is in line with the results of our investigation, despite the fact that our study evaluated participants on the seventh day following a variety of heart surgeries in older people, whereas their study evaluated participants on the third day following cardiac surgery.

According to Fiorina et al. (180), a person's functional capacity may be accurately determined by the distance they walked during the 6MWT. Following cardiac surgery, the distance walked increased significantly in the subgroup of patients who completed the 6MWT more than once. This was due to the cardiac rehabilitation program. This was consistent with our research, which found that patients assessed by 2MWT on the seventh day following cardiovascular surgery had improved in their functional capacity, and their study focused on participants who had taken part in a cardiac rehabilitation program by 6MWT 15 days after surgery. Walking and walking/breathing exercise groups had significantly longer 6MWT distances at hospital discharge compared to the conventional intervention group, according to Andrew D et al. (145). During the inpatient phase after CABG, a moderate-intensity walking program under the supervision of physical therapy improves functional ability upon hospital discharge. This was consistent with our findings, as patients were assessed using the 2MWT rather than the 6MWT.

Walking distance and functional independence were found to be considerably higher in the early mobilization group (Cordeiro A et al., 186). This was consistent with our research, which found that the early mobilization program group had greater functional capacity. According to Abdelaziz Mohammed F et al. (182), patients undergoing heart surgery had improved hemodynamic parameters and functional capacity as a result of the early ambulation program. These results supported the functional capacity values we obtained. When compared to conventional physiotherapy, aerobic exercise applied early in the intervention group on coronary artery bypass grafting patients may promote maintenance of functional capacity, with no impact on pulmonary function and respiratory muscle strength, according to Borges et al. (183), who also reported a significant difference in functional capacity found in the intervention

group at hospital discharge. Although the rehabilitation programs in the two research differed, there was a minor correlation between this and our study.

According to Kanejima et al. (184), the objective variable in their meta-analysis of all trials included was the distance walked during the 6MWT at discharge. The meta-analysis's findings demonstrated a notably positive efficacy for early mobilization. In every study that was included, patients in the intervention group walked farther and longer during the 6MWT than those in the control group. Early mobilization increased the distance walked on the 6MWT at hospital discharge by 54.0 m (95% confidence interval: 31.1–76.9 m), as indicated by the mean differences results. This increase was a significant result of early mobilization.

These studies carried some similarities to our own, which assessed patients using the two-minute walk test on the seventh postoperative day and reported significant improvements in functional abilities following early mobilization in older patients undergoing heart surgery. Group A's two-minute walk time was significantly longer than group B's. According to Goldfarb M et al. (185), postoperative cardiac surgery patients' functional condition improved and a nurse-driven early mobilization (EM) program was safe. Despite the differences in the tests and questionnaires between the two research, these results were consistent with our own.

According to this study's findings, there was a statistically significant difference in the early mobilization program group's physical activity as measured by the SF-IPAQ. The type of physical activity also showed a statistically significant difference, with a higher percentage of patients in group A 40 (80%) reporting moderate physical activity than patients in group B 5 (10%), while a lower percentage of patients in group A 10 (20%) reported low physical activity compared to patients in group B 45 (90%).

Mungovan S et al.(13), There was a significant increase in both the PT-supervised and independent physical activity step counts at POD 5 compared with POD1 for males and females. There was a significant increase in both the PT-supervised and independent physical activity time METS \geq 3 at POD5 compared with POD1 for males and females. Men exhibited significantly higher PT-supervised exercise and physical activity independent step counts and time \geq 3 METS at POD5 compared with women. According to Mungovan S et al. (13), there was a substantial increase in the step counts for both males and females engaged in self-

sufficient and supervised physical activity at post operative 5th day (POD5) in comparison with POD1. For both males and females, the supervised and independent physical activity time MET \geq 3 increased significantly at POD5 in comparison to POD1. When it came to supervised exercise, men outperformed women in terms of independent step counts, physical activity, and time \geq 3 MET at POD5.

This findings agreed with the results of our study. In their study, Mungovan S et al.(13) asserted that physical activity under the supervision of a physiotherapist promotes improvements in postoperative physiological functional capacity and shortens hospital stays after heart surgery. This was in line with our study's findings, which showed that the early mobilization program group's levels of physical activity had improved.

According to Jacob B. et al. (186), patients who underwent heart surgery had a gradual increase in early activity and mobilization, reaching 95% after the program was put in place. Additionally, patients' mean hours of out-of-bed mobilization before the intervention was 22.77, but this decreased to 11.74 after the procedure. Patients' first time out of bed mobilization time, mobility, and functional independence scores have all improved significantly after being transferred from the cardiothoracic intensive care unit (CTICU).

The mean FIM and IMS scores improved from 54.23 to 58.62 and from 3.96 to 7.23, respectively, indicating that the patients were mobilized ahead of schedule and before being transferred out of the CTICU, where they attained 89% functional independence as measured on the fifth postoperative day. We were also able to achieve a 47% reduction in the time required for the first out-of-bed mobilization. While their results indicated that patients were evaluated inside the cardiothoracic intensive care unit, our study looked at patients in the postoperative seventh day outside of the CTICU, and there were improvements in physical mobility for both studies. These results were in agreement with our findings.

According to Eder B et al. (187), older individuals recovering from cardiovascular surgery experience significantly better exercise tolerance when additional walking or cycling exercise training is added to normal cardiac rehabilitation programming. Despite the differences in the scales and therapy program, these results were comparable to ours.

Our study's results showed a significant negative association between SF-IPAQ and TUG scores. This finding implies that improved mobility and balance are indicated by a tendency for the TUG test's completion time to decrease as SF-IPAQ amount increases. Additionally, our findings demonstrated a high positive relation between the 2MWT and SF-IPAQ scores. This result implies that the amount of SF-IPAQ grows in proportion to the distance walked in two minutes.

Moreover, there was a significant negative connection found between 2MWT and TUG. This finding suggests increased mobility and balance because it shows that the time required to complete the TUG test tends to decrease as the distance walked in two minutes increases. We discussed some of our findings for balance, basic mobility abilities, and physical activity in different scales after cardiovascular surgery because, based on our fictional inquiry, we were unable to find studies linking TUG with SF-IPAQ scores following cardiac surgery.

On the fifth day following heart valve surgery, patients who received physiotherapy while in the hospital demonstrated higher levels of handgrip strength and physical activity in comparison to the control group, according to Chen J et al. (188). The handgrip strength test and the timed up and go test were used to measure physical activity. On the fifth post-operative day, the treatment group considerably outperformed the control group in terms of handgrip strength and timed up and go. This was consistent with our study's findings despite the different outcome measurement techniques.

According to Opasich C et al. (189), the individualized physiotherapy program that was subsequently developed to improve independent mobility shortly after cardiac surgery is safe, well-received, and more successful than standard physiotherapy for elderly-centered stratification based on functional frailty. This program also helps to identify patients who require more care and are more dependent on others. As a result, the frailty-based classification was effective in identifying patients who were more likely to fall, require extensive nursing care, be more dependent, and perceive their health worse.

When the groups were discharged, it was noted that both had greatly improved on every measure of mobility and independence; nevertheless, the majority of these improvements—including those related to nursing needs, mobility, balance, and muscle strength—were noticeably bigger

in the intervention group. Additionally, the average period of stay for these patients was much shorter—91 percent of them were able to leave in a substantially independent state. Despite the different scales and qualification programs, these results were remarkably similar to ours.

The results of this study showed that there was a strong positive correlation was found between short physical performance battery (SPPB) and 2MWT and SF-IPAQ in group A, also, moderate negative correlation was found between SPPB and TUG in group A. Our structured physical activity intervention significantly improves the SPPB score in frail elderly patients who have undergone elective cardiac surgery.

According to Molino R et al. (176), older individuals who have had elective cardiac surgery may experience a delay in the onset of mobility handicap if they receive the benefits of an organized physical activity intervention that raises their SPPB score. The SPPB score of the intervention group (IG) significantly improved, whereas the control group (CG) did not significantly alter. Additionally, IG demonstrated a noticeably greater percentage of individuals who had at least a one-point improvement in their SPPB score. This aligned with the results of our investigation.

According to Ferronato L. et al. (190), in older people undergoing cardiac surgery, the SPPB raised the independent perceived execution (SPE) right away. Furthermore, it demonstrated little SPE changes, a low incidence of adverse effects, and strong dependability in older persons before and after cardiac surgery. Though our study investigated SPPB in two groups, their study evaluated SPPB pre- and postoperatively in one group following heart surgery, therefore our findings and theirs were roughly consistent.

Our review of the literature revealed no research on the relationship between the short physical performance battery (SPPB) and the 2MWT and SF-IPAQ, or between the SPPB and TUG utilized following heart surgery. As a result, we talked about some of our results for the SF-IPAQ and SPPB scores with other research that used other therapy programs and assessments following cardiac surgery.

Our study was limited in two ways. Firstly, because it was not appropriate for patients who had cardiac surgery, we were unable to perform isometric or isotonic strengthening exercises in the intensive care unit to enhance hand grasp. Our research shows quick and substantial since the

6MWT takes a long time and some older individuals are unable to finish it, it cannot be used with them; instead, 2MWT is used. Some patients were dropped from the functional exercise program due to their inability to complete the prescribed dosage.



6. CONCLUSION

We reached at the following conclusion based on our results:

1. Post-operative cardiac aged patients' improved physical activity is positively impacted by early mobilization and functional exercises.

2. After cardiac surgery, older patients' functional ability is positively impacted by early mobilization and functional exercises.

3. Elderly patients undergoing cardiac surgery experienced improved balance as a result of early mobilization and functional exercises.

4. Elderly patients who have had cardiac surgery benefit significantly from early mobilization and functional exercises; for this reason, it is imperative to encourage patients to participate in these activities following heart surgery.

7. REFERENCE

- 1. Farley A, McLafferty E, Hendry C. Cells, tissues, organs and systems. Nurs Stand (through 2013). 2012;26(52):40.
- Kaptoge S, Pennells L, De Bacquer D, Cooney MT, Kavousi M, Stevens G et al. WHO cardiovascular disease risk charts: revised models to estimate risk in 21 global regions. LGH 2019; 7 (10): e1332–45. World Health Organization cardiovascular disease risk charts: revised models to estimate risk in 21 global regions. Lancet Glob Heal. 2019;7(10):e1332–45.
- 3. Organization WH. Cardiovascular diseases (cvds). http://www who int/mediacentre/factsheets/fs317/en/index html. 2009;
- Benjamin EJ, Muntner P, Alonso A, Bittencourt MS, Callaway CW, Carson AP, et al. Heart disease and stroke statistics—2019 update: a report from the American Heart Association. Circulation. 2019;139(10):e56–528.
- Chamberlain AM, Cohen SS, Killian JM, Monda KL, Weston SA, Okerson T. Lipidlowering prescription patterns in patients with diabetes mellitus or cardiovascular disease. Am J Cardiol. 2019;124(7):995–1001.
- de Albuquerque Silva B, do Nascimento Calles AC, de Faria Freire R. Perfil dos pacientes em pós-operatório de cirurgia de revascularização do miocárdio em um hospital de Maceió. Cad Grad Biológicas e da Saúde-UNIT-ALAGOAS. 2014;2(2):67–76.
- 7. Vervoort D, Swain JD, Pezzella AT, Kpodonu J. Cardiac surgery in low-and middleincome countries: a state-of-the-art review. Ann Thorac Surg. 2021;111(4):1394–400.
- 8. Ball L, Costantino F, Pelosi P. Postoperative complications of patients undergoing cardiac surgery. Curr Opin Crit Care. 2016;22(4):386–92.
- Sharif F, Shoul A, Janati M, Kojuri J, Zare N. The effect of cardiac rehabilitation on anxiety and depression in patients undergoing cardiac bypass graft surgery in Iran. BMC Cardiovasc Disord. 2012;12(1):1–7.

- 10. van Laar C, TImman ST, Noyez L. Decreased physical activity is a predictor for a complicated recovery post cardiac surgery. Health Qual Life Outcomes. 2017;15:1–7.
- Lear SA, Hu W, Rangarajan S, Gasevic D, Leong D, Iqbal R, et al. The effect of physical activity on mortality and cardiovascular disease in 130 000 people from 17 high-income, middle-income, and low-income countries: the PURE study. Lancet. 2017;390(10113):2643–54.
- Cameron S, Ball I, Cepinskas G, Choong K, Doherty TJ, Ellis CG, et al. Early mobilization in the critical care unit: A review of adult and pediatric literature. J Crit Care. 2015;30(4):664–72.
- 13. Mungovan SF, Singh P, Gass GC, Smart NA, Hirschhorn AD. Effect of physical activity in the first five days after cardiac surgery. J Rehabil Med. 2017;49(1):71–7.
- 14. Lund K, Sibilitz KL, Berg SK, Thygesen LC, Taylor RS, Zwisler AD. Physical activity increases survival after heart valve surgery. Heart. 2016;102(17):1388–95.
- 15. Wuche C. The cardiovascular system and associated disorders. Br J Nurs. 2022;31(17):886–92.
- Rane A, Jain R, Bherde V, Nair P, Das P. A Virtual Book based on Human Anatomy. In: Applications of Machine intelligence in Engineering. CRC Press; 2022. p. 163–71.
- 17. Weinhaus, Anthony J., and Kenneth P. Roberts. "Anatomy of the human heart." Handbook of cardiac anatomy, physiology, and devices (2005): 51-79.
- Chaurasia's BD. Human anatomy: Regional and applied, dissection and clinical. vol. 2, CBS Publishers. Thomas Press, New Delhi, India; 2010.
- Sievers HH, Hemmer W, Beyersdorf F, Moritz A, Moosdorf R, Lichtenberg A, et al. The everyday used nomenclature of the aortic root components: the tower of Babel? Eur J cardio-thoracic Surg. 2012;41(3):478–82.
- 20. Al-Tanakchi AAM. Algorithm to analyze the heart sound to diagnose some heart diseases. Altınbaş Üniversitesi/Lisansüstü Eğitim Enstitüsü; 2023.

- Parsa CJ, Shaw LK, Rankin JS, Daneshmand MA, Gaca JG, Milano CA, et al. Twentyfive-year outcomes after multiple internal thoracic artery bypass. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg. 2013;145(4):970–5.
- 22. Puskas JD, Yanagawa B, Taggart DP. Advancing the state of the art in surgical coronary revascularization. Ann Thorac Surg. 2016;101(2):419–21.
- 23. Mendis S, Puska P, Norrving B editors, Organization WH. Global atlas on cardiovascular disease prevention and control. World Health Organization; 2011.
- Dibben GO, Faulkner J, Oldridge N, Rees K, Thompson DR, Zwisler AD, et al. Exercisebased cardiac rehabilitation for coronary heart disease: a meta-analysis. Eur Heart J. 2023;44(6):452–69.
- English KL, Paddon-Jones D. Protecting muscle mass and function in older adults during bed rest. Curr Opin Clin Nutr Metab Care. 2010;13(1):34.
- Palle S, Singh A, Angraal S. Do Areas with More Primary Care Physicians have Lower Cardiovascular and Cancer Mortality? Am J Hosp Med Vol 4, issue 1 (2020 January-March). 2020;
- Jin J. Risk assessment for cardiovascular disease with nontraditional risk factors: US preventive services task force recommendation statement. JAMA-Journal Am Med Assoc. 2018;320(3):272–80.
- Coskun AK, Oz BS. The Effects of Cardiometabolic Risk Factors on Dietary Behavior. Adv Nutr. 2022;13(2):692.
- 29. Lloyd-Jones DM, Hong Y, Labarthe D, Mozaffarian D, Appel LJ, Van Horn L, et al. Defining and setting national goals for cardiovascular health promotion and disease reduction: the American Heart Association's strategic Impact Goal through 2020 and beyond. Circulation. 2010;121(4):586–613.
- 30. Greenland P, Alpert JS, Beller GA, Benjamin EJ, Budoff MJ, Fayad ZA, et al. 2010 ACCF/AHA guideline for assessment of cardiovascular risk in asymptomatic adults: a report of the American College of Cardiology Foundation/American Heart Association

task force on practice guidelines developed in collaboration with the American Socie. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2010;56(25):e50–103.

- 31. Fox CS, Pencina MJ, Wilson PWF, Paynter NP, Vasan RS, D'Agostino Sr RB. Lifetime risk of cardiovascular disease among individuals with and without diabetes stratified by obesity status in the Framingham heart study. Diabetes Care. 2008;31(8):1582–4.
- 32. Jellinger PS, Handelsman Y, Rosenblit PD, Bloomgarden ZT, Fonseca VA, Garber AJ, et al. American Association of Clinical Endocrinologists and American College of Endocrinology guidelines for management of dyslipidemia and prevention of cardiovascular disease. Endocr Pract. 2017;23:1–87.
- Benagiano M, Mancuso S, Brosens JJ, Benagiano G. Long-term consequences of placental vascular pathology on the maternal and offspring cardiovascular systems. Biomolecules. 2021;11(11):1625.
- 34. Savji N, Rockman CB, Skolnick AH, Guo Y, Adelman MA, Riles T, et al. Association between advanced age and vascular disease in different arterial territories: a population database of over 3.6 million subjects. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2013;61(16):1736–43.
- 35. Kaptoge S, Pennells L, De Bacquer D, Cooney MT, Kavousi M, Stevens G, et al. World Health Organization cardiovascular disease risk charts: revised models to estimate risk in 21 global regions. Lancet Glob Heal. 2019;7(10):e1332–45.
- Bowry ADK, Lewey J, Dugani SB, Choudhry NK. The burden of cardiovascular disease in low-and middle-income countries: epidemiology and management. Can J Cardiol. 2015;31(9):1151–9.
- 37. Gupta M, Singh N, Verma S. South Asians and cardiovascular risk: what clinicians should know. Circulation. 2006;113(25):e924–9.
- Zaidi S, Brueckner M. Genetics and genomics of congenital heart disease. Circ Res. 2017;120(6):923–40.
- 39. Dunbar SB, Khavjou OA, Bakas T, Hunt G, Kirch RA, Leib AR, et al. Projected costs of informal caregiving for cardiovascular disease: 2015 to 2035: a policy statement from the
American Heart Association. Circulation. 2018;137(19):e558–77.

- 40. Oeger C, Blacker B, Khalil IA, Rao PC, Cao J, Zimsen SRM, et al. Estimates of the global, regional, and national morbidity, mortality, and aetiologies of lower respiratory infections in 195 countries, 1990–2016: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2016. Lancet Infect Dis. 2018;18(11):1191–210.
- Guthold R, Stevens GA, Riley LM, Bull FC. Worldwide trends in insufficient physical activity from 2001 to 2016: a pooled analysis of 358 population-based surveys with 1.9 million participants. lancet Glob Heal. 2018;6(10):e1077–86.
- 42. Yorke J, Wallis M, McLean B. Patients' perceptions of pain management after cardiac surgery in an Australian critical care unit. Hear Lung. 2004;33(1):33–41.
- 43. Kervan Ü. Distribution and service quality of the cardiovascular surgery clinics in Turkey. Turkish J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg. 2011;19(4).
- 44. Committee for Scientific Affairs TJA for TS, Masuda M, Okumura M, Doki Y, Endo S, Hirata Y, et al. Thoracic and cardiovascular surgery in Japan during 2014: annual report by The Japanese Association for Thoracic Surgery. Gen Thorac Cardiovasc Surg. 2016;64:665–97.
- 45. Schocken DD, Benjamin EJ, Fonarow GC, Krumholz HM, Levy D, Mensah GA, et al. Prevention of heart failure: a scientific statement from the American Heart Association Councils on epidemiology and prevention, clinical cardiology, cardiovascular nursing, and high blood pressure research; Quality of Care and Outcomes Research Interdisc. Circulation. 2008;117(19):2544–65.
- 46. Sata M, Saiura A, Kunisato A, Tojo A, Okada S, Tokuhisa T, et al. Hematopoietic stem cells differentiate into vascular cells that participate in the pathogenesis of atherosclerosis. Nat Med. 2002;8(4):403–9.
- 47. Stary HC, Chandler AB, Dinsmore RE, Fuster V, Glagov S, Insull Jr W, et al. A definition of advanced types of atherosclerotic lesions and a histological classification of atherosclerosis: a report from the Committee on Vascular Lesions of the Council on

Arteriosclerosis, American Heart Association. Circulation. 1995;92(5):1355–74.

- 48. Yew KS, Cheng E. Acute stroke diagnosis. Am Fam Physician. 2009;80(1):33.
- Kreatsoulas C, Shannon HS, Giacomini M, Velianou JL, Anand SS. Reconstructing angina: cardiac symptoms are the same in women and men. JAMA Intern Med. 2013;173(9):829–33.
- 50. Swap CJ, Nagurney JT. Value and limitations of chest pain history in the evaluation of patients with suspected acute coronary syndromes. Jama. 2005;294(20):2623–9.
- 51. Harris C, Croce B, Cao C. Thoracic aortic aneurysm. Ann Cardiothorac Surg. 2016;5(4):407.
- 52. Aggarwal S, Qamar A, Sharma V, Sharma A. Abdominal aortic aneurysm: A comprehensive review. Exp Clin Cardiol. 2011;16(1):11.
- 53. Walker HK. The origins of the history and physical examination. Clin Methods Hist Phys Lab Exam 3rd Ed. 1990;
- 54. Bozkurt B, Hershberger RE, Butler J, Grady KL, Heidenreich PA, Isler ML, et al. 2021 ACC/AHA key data elements and definitions for heart failure: a report of the American College of Cardiology/American Heart Association task force on clinical data standards (Writing Committee to Develop Clinical Data Standards for Heart Failure). Circ Cardiovasc Qual Outcomes. 2021;14(4):e000102.
- 55. Kangovi S, Mitra N, Norton L, Harte R, Zhao X, Carter T, et al. Effect of community health worker support on clinical outcomes of low-income patients across primary care facilities: a randomized clinical trial. JAMA Intern Med. 2018;178(12):1635–43.
- 56. Leitz KH, Ziemer G. The history of cardiac surgery. Card Surg Oper Hear Gt Vessel Adults Child. 2017;3–31.
- 57. Cramer JA, Roy A, Burrell A, Fairchild CJ, Fuldeore MJ, Ollendorf DA, et al. Medication compliance and persistence: terminology and definitions. Value Heal. 2008;11(1):44–7.
- 58. Hsu W, Warren JR, Riddle PJ. Medication adherence prediction through temporal

modelling in cardiovascular disease management. BMC Med Inform Decis Mak. 2022;22(1):1–21.

- 59. McNeil JJ, Woods RL, Nelson MR, Reid CM, Kirpach B, Wolfe R, et al. Effect of aspirin on disability-free survival in the healthy elderly. N Engl J Med. 2018;379(16):1499–508.
- 60. Lai KSP, Herrmann N, Saleem M, Lanctôt KL. Cognitive outcomes following transcatheter aortic valve implantation: a systematic review. Cardiovasc Psychiatry Neurol. 2015;2015.
- Matheus GB, Dragosavac D, Trevisan P, Costa CE da, Lopes MM, Ribeiro GC de A. Treinamento muscular melhora o volume corrente e a capacidade vital no pós-operatório de revascularização do miocárdio. Brazilian J Cardiovasc Surg. 2012;27:362–9.
- 62. Atwell DM, Welsby I, White WD, King SA, Mythen MG. Postoperative complications following cardiac surgery with cardiopulmonary bypass. Crit Care. 1997;1:1–52.
- Braile DM, Godoy MF de. History of heart surgery in the world. Brazilian J Cardiovasc Surg. 2012;27:125–36.
- 64. Alejandro Aris MD. Francisco Romero, the first heart surgeon. Ann Thorac Surg. 1997;64(3):870–1.
- Soares GMT, Ferreira D, Gonçalves MPC, Alves TG de S, David FL, Henriques KM de C, et al. Prevalence of major postoperative complications in cardiac surgery. Rev Bras Cardiol. 2011;24(3):139–46.
- Kristjánsdóttir Á, Ragnarsdóttir M, Hannesson P, Beck HJ, Torfason B. Respiratory movements are altered three months and one year following cardiac surgery. Scand Cardiovasc J. 2004;38(2):98–103.
- Apostolakis EE, Koletsis EN, Baikoussis NG, Siminelakis SN, Papadopoulos GS. Strategies to prevent intraoperative lung injury during cardiopulmonary bypass. J Cardiothorac Surg. 2010;5(1):1–9.
- 68. Westerdahl E, Urell C, Jonsson M, Bryngelsson L, Hedenström H, Emtner M. Deep

breathing exercises performed 2 months following cardiac surgery: a randomized controlled trial. J Cardiopulm Rehabil Prev. 2014;34(1):34–42.

- 69. Lindsay GM, Smith LN, Hanlon P, Wheatley DJ. Coronary artery disease patients' perception of their health and expectations of benefit following coronary artery bypass grafting. J Adv Nurs. 2000;32(6):1412–21.
- 70. Beck CS. The development of a new blood supply to the heart by operation. Ann Surg. 1935;102(5):801.
- Nguyen TC, George I. Beyond the hammer: the future of cardiothoracic surgery. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg. 2015;149(3):675–7.
- Maganti, K., Rigolin, V. H., Sarano, M. E., & Bonow, R. O. (2010, May). Valvular heart disease: diagnosis and management. In Mayo Clinic Proceedings (Vol. 85, No. 5, pp. 483-500). Elsevier.
- 73. Maganti Kameswari, Rigolin VH, Sarano ME, Bonow RO. Valvular heart disease: diagnosis and management. In: Mayo Clinic Proceedings. Elsevier; 2010. p. 483–500.
- 74. O'Gara PT, Grayburn PA, Badhwar V, Afonso LC, Carroll JD, Elmariah S, et al. 2017 ACC expert consensus decision pathway on the management of mitral regurgitation: a report of the American College of Cardiology Task Force on Expert Consensus Decision Pathways. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2017;70(19):2421–49.
- 75. Mohammadi S, Kalavrouziotis D, Dagenais F, Voisine P, Charbonneau E. Completeness of revascularization and survival among octogenarians with triple-vessel disease. Ann Thorac Surg. 2012;93(5):1432–7.
- Li B, Mao B, Feng Y, Liu J, Zhao Z, Duan M, et al. The hemodynamic mechanism of FFR-guided coronary artery bypass grafting. Front Physiol. 2021;12:503687.
- 77. Alexander JH, Smith PK. Coronary-artery bypass grafting. N Engl J Med. 2016;374(20):1954–64.
- 78. Head SJ, Milojevic M, Taggart DP, Puskas JD. Current practice of state-of-the-art

surgical coronary revascularization. Circulation. 2017;136(14):1331-45.

- Nyström T, Sartipy U, Franzén S, Eliasson B, Gudbjörnsdottir S, Miftaraj M, et al. PCI versus CABG in patients with type 1 diabetes and multivessel disease. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2017;70(12):1441–51.
- Bellhouse, B. J., & Talbot, L. (1969). The fluid mechanics of the aortic valve. Journal of fluid mechanics, 35(4), 721-735.
- Stout KK, Otto CM. Indications for aortic valve replacement in aortic stenosis. J Intensive Care Med. 2007;22(1):14–25.
- 82. Bonow RO, Carabello BA, Chatterjee K, de Leon AC, Faxon DP, Freed MD, et al. ACC/AHA 2006 practice guidelines for the management of patients with valvular heart disease: executive summary: a report of the American College of Cardiology/American Heart Association Task Force on Practice Guidelines (writing committee to revise the 19. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2006;48(3):598–675.
- Hoffman, J. I., Kaplan, S., & Liberthson, R. R. (2004). Prevalence of congenital heart disease. American heart journal, 147(3), 425-439.
- Wang T, Chen L, Yang T, Huang P, Wang L, Zhao L, et al. Congenital heart disease and risk of cardiovascular disease: a meta-analysis of cohort studies. J Am Heart Assoc. 2019;8(10):e012030.
- Cordeiro ALL, Amorim NM, Andrade PH, Esquivel MS, Guimarães AR, de Melo TA, et al. Physiological Changes from Walking and Time of Stay after Heart Surgery. Int J Cardiovasc Sci. 2015;28(5):480–6.
- Salazar JD, Wityk RJ, Grega MA, Borowicz LM, Doty JR, Petrofski JA, et al. Stroke after cardiac surgery: short-and long-term outcomes. Ann Thorac Surg. 2001;72(4):1195–201.
- 87. McKhann GM, Grega MA, Borowicz Jr LM, Baumgartner WA, Selnes OA. Stroke and encephalopathy after cardiac surgery: an update. Stroke. 2006;37(2):562–71.

- 88. Yusuf E, Chan M, Renz N, Trampuz A. Current perspectives on diagnosis and management of sternal wound infections. Infect Drug Resist. 2018;961–8.
- Redfors B, Généreux P, Witzenbichler B, McAndrew T, Diamond J, Huang X, et al. Percutaneous coronary intervention of saphenous vein graft. Circ Cardiovasc Interv. 2017;10(5):e004953.
- Howitt SH, Herring M, Malagon I, McCollum CN, Grant SW. Incidence and outcomes of sepsis after cardiac surgery as defined by the Sepsis-3 guidelines. Br J Anaesth. 2018;120(3):509–16.
- 91. Paternoster G, Guarracino F. Sepsis after cardiac surgery: from pathophysiology to management. J Cardiothorac Vasc Anesth. 2016;30(3):773–80.
- Lee JJ, Park NH, Lee KS, Chee HK, Sim SB, Kim MJ, et al. Projections of demand for cardiovascular surgery and supply of surgeons. Korean J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg. 2016;49(Suppl 1):S37.
- 93. Schwingel A, Chodzko-Zajko WJ. Role of physical activity in the health and wellbeing of older adults. Lifestyle Medicine. CRC Press Boca Raton; 2019. p. 1157–66.
- Caspersen CJ, Powell KE, Christenson GM. Physical activity, exercise, and physical fitness: definitions and distinctions for health-related research. Public Health Rep. 1985;100(2):126.
- 95. Anderson L, Dewhirst AM, He J, Gandhi M, Taylor RS, Long L. Exercise-based cardiac rehabilitation for patients with stable angina. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2017;2017(9).
- 96. Taylor RS, Brown A, Ebrahim S, Jolliffe J, Noorani H, Rees K, et al. Exercise-based rehabilitation for patients with coronary heart disease: systematic review and metaanalysis of randomized controlled trials. Am J Med. 2004;116(10):682–92.
- 97. Højskov IE, Moons P, Egerod I, Olsen PS, Thygesen LC, Hansen NV, et al. Early physical and psycho-educational rehabilitation in patients with coronary artery bypass grafting: A randomized controlled trial. J Rehabil Med. 2019;51(2):136–43.

- 98. Pogosova N, Kotseva K, De Bacquer D, von Känel R, De Smedt D, Bruthans J, et al. Psychosocial risk factors in relation to other cardiovascular risk factors in coronary heart disease: Results from the EUROASPIRE IV survey. A registry from the European Society of Cardiology. Eur J Prev Cardiol. 2017;24(13):1371–80.
- 99. De Smedt D, Clays E, Annemans L, Doyle F, Kotseva K, Pająk A, et al. Health related quality of life in coronary patients and its association with their cardiovascular risk profile: results from the EUROASPIRE III survey. Int J Cardiol. 2013;168(2):898–903.
- Karlsson A, Mattsson B, Johansson M, Lidell E. Well-being in patients and relatives after open-heart surgery from the perspective of health care professionals. J Clin Nurs. 2010;19(5-6):840–6.
- Hedbäck B, Perk J, Hörnblad M, Ohlsson U. Cardiac rehabilitation after coronary artery bypass surgery: 10-year results on mortality, morbidity and readmissions to hospital. J Cardiovasc Risk. 2001;8(3):153–8.
- 102. Pack QR, Goel K, Lahr BD, Greason KL, Squires RW, Lopez-Jimenez F, et al. Participation in cardiac rehabilitation and survival after coronary artery bypass graft surgery: a community-based study. Circulation. 2013;128(6):590–7.
- 103. World Health Organization T. Global recommendations on physical activity for health. World Health Organization; 2010.
- 104. Te Velde SJ, Lankhorst K, Zwinkels M, Verschuren O, Takken T, de Groot J, et al. Associations of sport participation with self-perception, exercise self-efficacy and quality of life among children and adolescents with a physical disability or chronic disease—a cross-sectional study. Sport Med. 2018;4:1–11.
- 105. Itagaki A, Saitoh M, Okamura D, Kawamura T, Otsuka S, Tahara M, et al. Factors related to physical functioning decline after cardiac surgery in older patients: A multicenter retrospective study. J Cardiol. 2019;74(3):279–83.
- 106. Ory MG, Towne SD, Stevens AB, Park CH, Chodzko-Zajko WJ. Implementing and disseminating exercise programs for older adult populations. Exerc Aging Adults A Guid

Pract. 2015;139-50.

- 107. Geidl W, Schlesinger S, Mino E, Miranda L, Pfeifer K. Dose-response relationship between physical activity and mortality in adults with noncommunicable diseases: a systematic review and meta-analysis of prospective observational studies. Int J Behav Nutr Phys Act. 2020;17(1):1–18.
- 108. Florido R, Kwak L, Lazo M, Nambi V, Ahmed HM, Hegde SM, et al. Six-year changes in physical activity and the risk of incident heart failure: ARIC study. Circulation. 2018;137(20):2142–51.
- Amidei CB, Trevisan C, Dotto M, Ferroni E, Noale M, Maggi S, et al. Association of physical activity trajectories with major cardiovascular diseases in elderly people. Heart. 2022;108(5):360–6.
- Shiroma EJ, Lee IM. Physical activity and cardiovascular health: lessons learned from epidemiological studies across age, gender, and race/ethnicity. Circulation. 2010;122(7):743–52.
- Trajectories of physical activity from midlife to old age and associations with subsequent cardiovascular disease and all-cause mortality. J Epidemiol Community Heal. 2020;74(2):130–6.
- 112. Gao JW, Hao QY, Lu LY, Han JJ, Huang FF, Vuitton DA, et al. Associations of longterm physical activity trajectories with coronary artery calcium progression and cardiovascular disease events: results from the CARDIA study. Br J Sports Med. 2022;56(15):854–61.
- 113. Wu S, An S, Li W, Lichtenstein AH, Gao J, Kris-Etherton PM, et al. Association of trajectory of cardiovascular health score and incident cardiovascular disease. JAMA Netw Open. 2019; 2: e194758. 2019.
- 114. Griffo R, Ambrosetti M, Tramarin R, Fattirolli F, Temporelli PL, Vestri AR, et al. Effective secondary prevention through cardiac rehabilitation after coronary revascularization and predictors of poor adherence to lifestyle modification and

medication. Results of the ICAROS Survey. Int J Cardiol. 2013;167(4):1390-5.

- 115. Brocks Y, Zittermann A, Grisse D, Schmid-Ott G, Stock-Gießendanner S, Schulz U, et al. Adherence of heart transplant recipients to prescribed medication and recommended lifestyle habits: a single-center experience. Prog Transplant. 2017;27(2):160–6.
- 116. Laustsen S, Hjortdal VE, Petersen AK. Predictors for not completing exercise-based rehabilitation following cardiac surgery. Scand Cardiovasc J. 2013;47(6):344–51.
- 117. Fleg JL. Aerobic exercise in the elderly: a key to successful aging. Discov Med. 2012;13(70):223-8.
- 118. Bein T, Bischoff M, Brückner U, Gebhardt K, Henzler D, Hermes C, et al. S2e guideline: positioning and early mobilisation in prophylaxis or therapy of pulmonary disorders: revision 2015: S2e guideline of the German Society of Anaesthesiology and Intensive Care Medicine (DGAI). Anaesthesist. 2015;64:1.
- 119. Ferreira GM, Haeffner MP, Barreto SSM, Dall'Ago P. Incentive spirometry with expiratory positive airway pressure brings benefits after myocardial revascularization. Arq Bras Cardiol. 2010;94:246–51.
- 120. Barros GF, Santos C da S, Granado FB, Costa PT, Límaco RP, Gardenghi G. Respiratory muscle training in patients submitted to coronary arterial bypass graft. Brazilian J Cardiovasc Surg. 2010;25:483–90.
- 121. Westerdahl E, OlsA MF. Chest physiotherapy and breathing exercises for cardiac surgery patients in Sweden-a national survey of practice. Monaldi Arch chest Dis. 2011;75(2).
- 122. Savci S, Sakinc S, İnce Dİ, Arikan H, Can Z, Buran Y, et al. Active cycle of breathing techniques and incentive spirometer in coronary artery bypass graft surgery. Fiz Rehabil. 2006;17(2):61.
- 123. Gomes Neto M, Martinez BP, Reis HFC, Carvalho VO. Pre-and postoperative inspiratory muscle training in patients undergoing cardiac surgery: systematic review and metaanalysis. Clin Rehabil. 2017;31(4):454–64.

- 124. O'doherty AF, West M, Jack S, Grocott MPW. Preoperative aerobic exercise training in elective intra-cavity surgery: a systematic review. Br J Anaesth. 2013;110(5):679–89.
- 125. Schwaab B, Rauch B. S3-Leitlinie zur kardiologischen Rehabilitation im deutschsprachigen Raum Europas. DMW-Deutsche Medizinische Wochenschrift. 2021;146(03):171–5.
- 126. Ximenes NNPS, Borges DL, Lima RO, Silva LN da, Costa M de AG, Baldez TEP, et al. Effects of resistance exercise applied early after coronary artery bypass grafting: a randomized controlled trial. Brazilian J Cardiovasc Surg. 2015;30:620–5.
- 127. Mendes RG, Simões RP, Costa FDSM, Pantoni CBF, Di Thommazo L, Luzzi S, et al. Short-term supervised inpatient physiotherapy exercise protocol improves cardiac autonomic function after coronary artery bypass graft surgery–a randomised controlled trial. Disabil Rehabil. 2010;32(16):1320–7.
- 128. da Silva LN, da Silva Marques MJ, da Silva Lima R, Fortes JVS, Barbosa MG, Baldez TEP, et al. Retirada precoce do leito no pós-operatório de cirurgia cardíaca: repercussões cardiorrespiratórias e efeitos na força muscular respiratória e periférica, na capacidade funcional e função pulmonar. Cardiorespir Physiother Crit Care Rehabil. 2019;8(2):25–40.
- da Silva Pissolato J, Fleck CS. Mobilização precoce na unidade de terapia intensiva adulta. Fisioter Bras. 2018;19(3).
- 130. Tariq MI, Khan AA, Khalid Z, Farheen H, Siddiqi FA, Amjad I. Effect of early≤ 3 mets (metabolic equivalent of tasks) of physical activity on patient's outcome after cardiac surgery. J Coll Physicians Surg Pak. 2017;27(8):490–4.
- 131. Hirschhorn AD, Richards D, Mungovan SF, Morris NR, Adams L. Supervised moderate intensity exercise improves distance walked at hospital discharge following coronary artery bypass graft surgery—a randomised controlled trial. Hear Lung Circ. 2008;17(2):129–38.
- 132. Patel DK, Duncan MS, Shah AS, Lindman BR, Greevy RA, Savage PD, et al. Association

of cardiac rehabilitation with decreased hospitalization and mortality risk after cardiac valve surgery. JAMA Cardiol. 2019;4(12):1250–9.

- 133. Anderson JL, Antman EM, Harold JG, Jessup M, O'Gara PT, Pinto FJ, et al. Clinical practice guidelines on perioperative cardiovascular evaluation: collaborative efforts among the American College of Cardiology, the American Heart Association, and the European Society of Cardiology. Vol. 35, European heart journal. Oxford University Press; 2014. p. 2342–3.
- 134. Dankert A, Neumann-Schirmbeck B, Dohrmann T, Plümer L, Wünsch VA, Sasu PB, et al. Stair-Climbing Tests or Self-Reported Functional Capacity for Preoperative Pulmonary Risk Assessment in Patients with Known or Suspected COPD—A Prospective Observational Study. J Clin Med. 2023;12(13):4180.
- 135. Windmöller P, Bodnar ET, Casagrande J, Dallazen F, Schneider J, Berwanger SA, et al. Physical exercise combined with CPAP in subjects who underwent surgical myocardial revascularization: a randomized clinical trial. Respir Care. 2020;65(2):150–7.
- 136. Lavie CJ, Milani R V, Marks P, de Gruiter H. Exercise and the heart: risks, benefits, and recommendations for providing exercise prescriptions. Ochsner J. 2001;3(4):207–13.
- 137. Achttien RJ, Staal JB, van der Voort S, Kemps HMC, Koers H, Jongert MWA, et al. Exercise-based cardiac rehabilitation in patients with coronary heart disease: a practice guideline. Netherlands Hear J. 2013;21:429–38.
- 138. Santos PMR, Ricci NA, Suster ÉAB, Paisani DM, Chiavegato LD. Effects of early mobilisation in patients after cardiac surgery: a systematic review. Physiotherapy. 2017;103(1):1–12.
- 139. Andersen LK, Knak KL, Witting N, Vissing J. Two-and 6-minute walk tests assess walking capability equally in neuromuscular diseases. Neurology. 2016;86(5):442–5.
- Connelly D, Stevenson TJ, Vandervoort AA. Between-and within-rater reliability of walking tests in a frail elderly population. Physiother Canada. 1996;48(1):47–51.
- 141. Kieseier BC, Pozzilli C. Assessing walking disability in multiple sclerosis. Mult Scler J.

2012;18(7):914-24.

- 142. Brooks D, Parsons J, Tran D, Jeng B, Gorczyca B, Newton J, et al. The two-minute walk test as a measure of functional capacity in cardiac surgery patients. Arch Phys Med Rehabil. 2004;85(9):1525–30.
- 143. Boidin M, Trachsel LD, Nigam A, Juneau M, Tremblay J, Gayda M. Non-linear is not superior to linear aerobic training periodization in coronary heart disease patients. Eur J Prev Cardiol. 2020;27(16):1691–8.
- 144. Urell C, Emtner M, Hedenström H, Tenling A, Breidenskog M, Westerdahl E. Deep breathing exercises with positive expiratory pressure at a higher rate improve oxygenation in the early period after cardiac surgery—a randomised controlled trial. Eur J cardio-thoracic Surg. 2011;40(1):162–7.
- 145. Hirschhorn AD, Richards DAB, Mungovan SF, Morris NR, Adams L. Does the mode of exercise influence recovery of functional capacity in the early postoperative period after coronary artery bypass graft surgery? A randomized controlled trial. Interact Cardiovasc Thorac Surg. 2012;15(6):995–1003.
- 146. Herdy AH, Marcchi PLB, Vila A, Tavares C, Collaço J, Niebauer J, et al. Pre-and postoperative cardiopulmonary rehabilitation in hospitalized patients undergoing coronary artery bypass surgery: a randomized controlled trial. Am J Phys Med Rehabil. 2008;87(9):714–9.
- 147. Wijeysundera DN, Pearse RM, Shulman MA, Abbott TEF, Torres E, Ambosta A, et al. Assessment of functional capacity before major non-cardiac surgery: an international, prospective cohort study. Lancet. 2018;391(10140):2631–40.
- 148. Riley PO, Mann RW, Hodge WA. Modelling of the biomechanics of posture and balance. J Biomech. 1990;23(5):503–6.
- Angus J. Instrumenting the clinical test of sensory interaction and balance: a comparison of different measures of balance. 2020.
- 150. Huxham FE, Goldie PA, Patla AE. Theoretical considerations in balance assessment.

Aust J Physiother. 2001;47(2):89–100.

- Peköz MT, SARICA Y. Diyabetes Mellitusta Postür, Denge ve Yürüme Bozuklukları. Arşiv Kaynak Tarama Derg. 2012;21(3):151–62.
- Shumway-Cook A, Horak FB. Assessing the influence of sensory interaction on balance: suggestion from the field. Phys Ther. 1986;66(10):1548–50.
- Winter DA. Human balance and posture control during standing and walking. Gait Posture. 1995;3(4):193–214.
- 154. Ghamkhar L, Kahlaee AH. The effect of trunk muscle fatigue on postural control of upright stance: A systematic review. Gait Posture. 2019;72:167–74.
- 155. Goel K, Shen J, Wolter AD, Beck KM, Leth SE, Thomas RJ, et al. Prevalence of musculoskeletal and balance disorders in patients enrolled in phase II cardiac rehabilitation. J Cardiopulm Rehabil Prev. 2010;30(4):235–9.
- 156. Değer TB, Saraç ZF, Savaş ES, Akçiçek SF. The relationship of balance disorders with falling, the effect of health problems, and social life on postural balance in the elderly living in a district in Turkey. Geriatrics. 2019;4(2):37.
- 157. Parse RR. The human becoming school of thought: A perspective for nurses and other health professionals. 1998;
- 158. Fan M, Lyu J, He P. Chinese guidelines for data processing and analysis concerning the International Physical Activity Questionnaire. Zhonghua liu xing bing xue za zhi= Zhonghua liuxingbingxue zazhi. 2014;35(8):961–4.
- 159. Brugnara L, Murillo S, Novials A, Rojo-Martínez G, Soriguer F, Goday A, et al. Low physical activity and its association with diabetes and other cardiovascular risk factors: a nationwide, population-based study. PLoS One. 2016;11(8):e0160959.
- 160. Busch JC, Lillou D, Wittig G, Bartsch P, Willemsen D, Oldridge N, et al. Resistance and balance training improves functional capacity in very old participants attending cardiac rehabilitation after coronary bypass surgery. J Am Geriatr Soc. 2012;60(12):2270–6.

- Troiano RP, McClain JJ, Brychta RJ, Chen KY. Evolution of accelerometer methods for physical activity research. Br J Sports Med. 2014;48(13):1019–23.
- 162. RJ B. Two-, six-, and 12-minute walking test in respiratory disease. Br Med J. 1982;284:1607–8.
- 163. Alvarez-Ramirez J, Rodriguez E. Theoretical analysis of the 12 min Cooper's test to estimate the maximal oxygen uptake rate. Biomed Signal Process Control. 2021;69:102885.
- Cooper KH. A means of assessing maximal oxygen intake: correlation between field and treadmill testing. Jama. 1968;203(3):201–4.
- 165. Leung ASY, Chan KK, Sykes K, Chan KS. Reliability, validity, and responsiveness of a
 2-min walk test to assess exercise capacity of COPD patients. Chest. 2006;130(1):119–
 25.
- Resnik L, Borgia M. Reliability of outcome measures for people with lower-limb amputations: distinguishing true change from statistical error. Phys Ther. 2011;91(4):555–65.
- 167. Harrison, E. C., Haussler, A. M., Tueth, L. E., Baudendistel, S. T., & Earhart, G. M. (2024). Graceful gait: virtual ballet classes improve mobility and reduce falls more than wellness classes for older women. Frontiers in aging neuroscience, 16.
- 168. Guralnik JM, Simonsick EM, Ferrucci L, Glynn RJ, Berkman LF, Blazer DG, et al. A short physical performance battery assessing lower extremity function: association with self-reported disability and prediction of mortality and nursing home admission. J Gerontol. 1994;49(2):M85–94.
- 169. จำนงค์กิจ สปส. การวัดความมั่นคงของลำตัวข ณะทดสอบ Timed Up and Go ในผู้สูงอายุเพศหญิง. สงขลานครินทร์เวชสาร. 2557;32(1):2005.
- 170. De Jong K, Sanderink T, Heesbeen I. Time up and go [Internet]. Neuro-Klinimetrie de Hoogstraat.
 2001. p. 6. Available from: http://www.meetinstrumentenzorg.nl/Portals/0/bestanden/93_2.pdf

- 171. Yoon DH, Lee JY, Song W. Effects of resistance exercise training on cognitive function and physical performance in cognitive frailty: a randomized controlled trial. J Nutr Health Aging. 2018;22:944–51.
- 172. Pavasini R, Guralnik J, Brown JC, di Bari M, Cesari M, Landi F, et al. Short physical performance battery and all-cause mortality: systematic review and meta-analysis. BMC Med. 2016;14:1–9.
- 173. Verghese J, Xue X. Identifying frailty in high functioning older adults with normal mobility. Age Ageing. 2010;39(3):382–5.
- 174. da Câmara SMA, Alvarado BE, Guralnik JM, Guerra RO, Maciel ÁCC. Using the Short Physical Performance Battery to screen for frailty in young-old adults with distinct socioeconomic conditions. Geriatr Gerontol Int. 2013;13(2):421–8.
- 175. Perera S, Mody SH, Woodman RC, Studenski SA. Meaningful change and responsiveness in common physical performance measures in older adults. J Am Geriatr Soc. 2006;54(5):743–9.
- 176. Molino-Lova R, Pasquini G, Vannetti F, Paperini A, Forconi T, Polcaro P, et al. Effects of a structured physical activity intervention on measures of physical performance in frail elderly patients after cardiac rehabilitation: a pilot study with 1-year follow-up. Intern Emerg Med. 2013;8:581–9.
- 177. Macchi C, Fattirolli F, Lova RM, Conti AA, Luisi MLE, Intini R, et al. Early and late rehabilitation and physical training in elderly patients after cardiac surgery. Am J Phys Med Rehabil. 2007;86(10):826–34.
- 178. da Costa Torres D, Dos Santos PMR, Reis HJL, Paisani DM, Chiavegato LD. Effectiveness of an early mobilization program on functional capacity after coronary artery bypass surgery: A randomized controlled trial protocol. SAGE open Med. 2016;4:2050312116682256.
- 179. Cui Z, Li N, Gao C, Fan Y, Zhuang X, Liu J, et al. Precision implementation of early ambulation in elderly patients undergoing off-pump coronary artery bypass graft surgery:

a randomized-controlled clinical trial. BMC Geriatr. 2020;20:1–10.

- 180. Fiorina C, Vizzardi E, Lorusso R, Maggio M, De Cicco G, Nodari S, et al. The 6-min walking test early after cardiac surgery. Reference values and the effects of rehabilitation programme. Eur J Cardio-thoracic Surg. 2007;32(5):724–9.
- 181. Cordeiro ALL, Lima ADS, De Oliveira CM, De Sá JP, Guimarães ARF. Impact of early mobilization on clinical and functional outcomes in patients submitted to coronary artery bypass grafting. Am J Cardiovasc Dis. 2022;12(2):67.
- 182. Abdelaziz Mohammed F, Shoeib Ali F. Effect of Early Ambulation Program on Selected Outcomes among Patients Undergoing Cardiac Surgery. Egypt J Heal Care. 2022;13(4):888–904.
- 183. Borges DL, Silva MG, Silva LN, Fortes JV, Costa ET, Assunção RP, et al. Effects of aerobic exercise applied early after coronary artery bypass grafting on pulmonary function, respiratory muscle strength, and functional capacity: a randomized controlled trial. J Phys Act Heal. 2016;13(9):946–51.
- 184. Kanejima Y, Shimogai T, Kitamura M, Ishihara K, Izawa KP. Effect of early mobilization on physical function in patients after cardiac surgery: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Int J Environ Res Public Health. 2020;17(19):7091.
- Goldfarb M, Dima D, Langlois Y. Early Mobilization in Postoperative Cardiac Surgical Patients. Circulation. 2020;142(Suppl_3):A13167–A13167.
- 186. Jacob P, Gupta P, Shiju S, Omar AS, Ansari S, Mathew G, et al. Multidisciplinary, early mobility approach to enhance functional independence in patients admitted to a cardiothoracic intensive care unit: a quality improvement programme. BMJ open Qual. 2021;10(3):e001256.
- 187. Eder B, Hofmann P, Von Duvillard SP, Brandt D, Schmid JP, Pokan R, et al. Early 4week cardiac rehabilitation exercise training in elderly patients after heart surgery. J Cardiopulm Rehabil Prev. 2010;30(2):85–92.
- 188. Chen J, Zhang T, Bao W, Zhao G, Chen Z. The effect of in-hospital physiotherapy on

handgrip strength and physical activity levels after cardiac valve surgery: a randomized controlled trial. Ann Palliat Med. 2021;10(2):2217–23.

- 189. Opasich C, Patrignani A, Mazza A, Gualco A, Cobelli F, Domenico Pinna G. An elderlycentered, personalized, physiotherapy program early after cardiac surgery. Eur J Prev Cardiol. 2010;17(5):582–7.
- 190. Ferronato L, Vieira D, Rodrigues A, Coronel C, de Avelar NP. Short physical performance battery in the pre and postoperative myocardial revascularization surgery in older adults: Reliability, hemodynamic responses, subjective perceived exertion, and adverse events. Physiother Theory Pract. 2022;1–11.

APPENDICES

Appx 1. Ethical Committee Approval

SAGLIK BAKANLIGI

BAGHDAD ALKARH SAĞLIK İDARESİ

INSAN VE EĞİTİM GELİŞİM DAİRESİ MERKEZİ

ARAŞTIRMA KURUL

KARAR NO: 903

KARAR TARIHI:14.12.2023

ARAŞTIRMA KURUL KARARI

BAGHDAD/ALKARH SAĞLIK İDARESİ DEPARTMANI ARAŞTIRMA KOMITESINCE ARAŞTIRMA TARAFINDAN SUNULAN ARAŞTIRMA PROJESİ İNCELENDİ NUMARASI (321056).

"EFFECTIVENESS OF EARLY MOBILIZATION AND FUNCTIONAL EXERCISE ON PHYSICAL ACTIVITY, FUNCTIONAL STATUS AND BALANCE POST OPERATIVE FOR ELDERLY CARDIAC PATIENTS".

ARAŞTIRMACI TARAFINDAN SUNULAN (AZHAR HASSAN MAHMOOD) MERKEZ EĞİTİM VE İNSAN GELİŞİMİ DEPARTMANI,BİLGİ YÖNETİMİ VE ARAŞTIRMA DEPARTMANINA SUNULMUŞTUR.BAGHDAD ALKARH SAĞLIK İDARESİ TARİH:13.12.2023.

KURULUN KARARI:

BU ARAŞTIRMA TEZ PROJESİ KURULUMUZ TARAFINDAN KABUL GÖREREK SAĞLIK BAKANLIĞI TARAFINDAN ONAYLANDI. ÖZEL ÇEVRE TEZ UYGULAMA MERKEZİ BU KONUDA UYGULAMAYA ENGEL YOKTUR MERKEZİN ADI KALP CERRAHİ BRANŞ MERKEZİ. BU TEZİN ARAŞTIRMASINDA VE UYGULAMASINDA BİR ENGEL BULUNMAMAKTADIR.

ARAŞTIRMA KURUL MÜDÜRÜ

KURUL BAŞKANI

IMZA14.12.2023

FAKÜLTE BRANŞ DOKTORU

SUAD KAMİL RAHEEM

IMZA

Appx 2. Demographic Information Questionnaire

LAST NAVE		FIRST NAME		INITIAL
DATE OF BIRTH	SEX D.M. D.F	SOCIAL SECURITY		
	W DD Down			
ADDRESS	CITY		STATE	ZP
HOME PHONE	CELL	EMAIL ADDRESS		
SPOUSE NAME		INSURANCE COMPANY		
RACE White Black Asi	an Notive Hawaiian/Pacific Island	or American Indian/Alaskar	Native Hispa	nic 🗋 Other
ETHNICITY Hisperic/Latino	Non-Hispanic/Latino	Refused		
LANGUAGE English Spani	sh 🗋 French 🗋 Arabic 🗋 Chiner	e 🔄 Sign Language		
EMPLOYER		WORK PH	ONE	
		inel dependent paterns)		
Name:	First Middle Inite	Relations	hip to patient:_	
Name: Last Address:	First Middle Initi	Pelations	hip to patient:	Zip:
Name: Last Address: DOB:Sex	First Middle Inition Cit t:FM Phone:	y:	hip to patient:State:Home	Zip: Cell Other
Name: Last Address:Sex DOB:Sex MM.00/YYYY Emergency Contact	Frst Middle Inite Ci ::FM Phone:	y:	hip to patient:	Zip: Cell Other
Name:Lest Address:Sex DOB:Sex MM.00/YYYY Emergency Contact Name:	Frst Middle Info Ci ::FM Phone: Phone:	y:Relations	hip to patient: State: Home hip to patient:	Zip: Cell Other
Name:Lest Address:Sex DOB:Sex MM(D0/YYYY Emergency Contact Name: Patient's Insurance Informa	Frst Middle Info Ci ::FM Phone: Phone: tion	y:Relations	hip to patient:	Zip: Cell Other
Name:Lest Address:Sex DOB:Sex MM(D0/YYYY Emergency Contact Name: Patient's Insurance Informa Primary Policy:	First Middle Info Cit ::FM Phone: Phone: tion	y:Relations	hip to patient:	_Zip: Cell Other
Name:Lest Address:Sex DOB:Sex MM(D0/YYYY Emergency Contact Name: Patient's Insurance Informa Primary Policy: Policy Holder;	Frst Middle Info Ci ::FM Phone: Phone: tion	y:Relations	hip to patient:	Zip: Cell Other
Name:Lest Address:Sex DOB:Sex MM(D0/YYYY Emergency Contact Name: Patient's Insurance Informa Primary Policy: Policy Holder; Date of Birth:	Frst Middle Info Ci ::FM Phone: Phone: tion	Policy Holder:	hip to patient: State: Home	_Zip: Cell Other

PATIENT REGISTRATION INFORMATION PLEASE PRINT AND COMPLETE ALL SECTIONS OF THIS FORM

Appx 3. Short Form International Physical Activity Questionnaire (SF-IPAQ

IPAQ Scoring Protocol (Short Versions)

Categorical Score- three levels of physical activity are proposed

- 1. Inactive
 - No activity is reported OR
 - Some activity is reported but not enough to meet Categories 2 or 3.
- 2. Minimally Active

Any one of the following 3 criteria

- 3 or more days of vigorous activity of at least 20 minutes per day OR
- 5 or more days of moderate-intensity activity or walking of at least 30 minutes per day OR
- 5 or more days of any combination of walking, moderate-intensity or vigorous intensity activities achieving a minimum of at least 600 MET-min/week.

3. <u>HEPA active</u>

Any one of the following 2 criteria

- Vigorous-intensity activity on at least 3 days and accumulating at least 1500 METminutes/week OR
- 7 or more days of any combination of walking, moderate-intensity or vigorous intensity activities achieving a minimum of at least 3000 MET-minutes/week

Continuous Score

Expressed as MET-min per week: MET level x minutes of activity x events per week

Sample Calculation

MET levels	MET-min/week for 30 min episodes, 5 times/week
Walking = 3.3 METs	3.3*30*5 = 495 MET-min/week
Moderate Intensity = 4.0 METs	4.0*30*5 = 600 MET-min/week
Vigorous Intensity = 8.0 METs	8.0*30*5 = 1,200 MET-min/week
	TOTAL = 2,295 MET-min/week

Total MET-min/week = (Walk METs*min*days) + (Mod METs*min*days) + Vig METs*min*days)

Please review the document "Guidelines for the data processing and analysis of the International Physical Activity Questionnaire (Short Form)" for more detailed description of IPAQ analysis and recommendations for data cleaning and processing [www.ipaq.ki.se].

Appx 4. Two Minute Walk Test (2MWT)

2 Minute Walk Test Instructions

General Information:

- individual walks without assistance for 2 minutes and the distance is measured
 - start timing when the individual is instructed to "Go"
 - o stop timing at 2 minutes
 - assistive devices can be used but should be kept consistent and documented from test to test
 - o if physical assistance is required to walk, this should not be performed
 - o a measuring wheel is helpful to determine distance walked
- · should be performed at the fastest speed possible

Set-up and equipment:

- ensure the hallway free of obstacles
- stopwatch

Patient Instructions (derived from references below):

"Cover as much ground as possible over 2 minutes. Walk continuously if possible, but do not be concerned if you need to slow down or stop to rest. The goal is to feel at the end of the test that more ground could not have been covered in the 2 minutes."

Appx 5. Time up Go Test

Timed Up and Go (TUG) Test

Description: Measure of function with correlates to balance and fall risk

Equipment: Stopwatch, Standard Chair, Measured distance of 3 meters (10 feet)

<u>Patient Instructions</u>: "My commands for this test are going to be 'ready, set, go'. When I say go, I want you to stand up from the chair. You may use the arms of the chair to stand up or sit down. Once you are up, you may take any path you like, but I want you to move as QUICKLY as you feel safe and comfortable until you pass this piece of tape (or end of marked course) with both feet. Turn around and walk back to the chair. I will stop the clock when your back touches the back of the chair. You will complete one practice run and two that are counted."

<u>Therapist Instructions</u>: Start timing on the word "GO" and stop timing when the subject is seated again correctly in the chair with their back resting on the back of the chair. The subject wears their regular footwear, may use any gait aid that they normally use during ambulation, but may not be assisted by another person. There is no time limit. They may stop and rest (but not sit down) if they need to.

Interpretation:

- ≤ 10 seconds = normal
- \leq 20 seconds = good mobility, can go out alone, mobile without gait aid
- ≤ 30 seconds = problems, cannot go outside alone, requires gait aid
- * A score of ≥ 14 seconds has been shown to indicate high risk of falls

Short Physical Performance Battery (SPPB) - Protocol

The Test explained

The short physical performance battery (SPPB) is a group of measures that combines the results of the gait speed, chair stand and balance tests (Guralnik et al., 2000). It has been used as a predictive tool for possible disability and can aid in the monitoring of function in older people. The scores range from 0 (worst performance) to 12 (best performance). The SPPB has been shown to have predictive validity showing a gradient of risk for mortality, nursing home admission, and disability.

Setting

Physiotherapy cubicle

Equipment Required

Chair with arms	Stopwatch	Tape measure	2 cones to mark 2.44m
18-19" in height			

CURRICULUM VITAE

Personal Information		MIEVRAN UN
Name and surname	Azhar Hassan MAHMOOD	VERSITES VIHASA
Place of birth	Iraq, Baghdad	2006

License		
University	Baghdad	
Faculty	Medical Technology College	
Department	Physical Therapy And Rehabilition	
Graduation Year	2014	

Articles and Papers

International Conferences and Symposia: International Conferences SCINTEFIC RESEARCH: 1- International Antalya scientific research and innovative studies congress held on December, 2023)